
Please ask for:
Lisa Young
Direct dial:
(023) 9254 5340
Fax:
(023) 9254 5587
E-mail:
lisa.young@gosport.gov.uk

21 September 2020

S U M M O N S

MEETING: Policy and Organisation Board
DATE: 29 September 2020
TIME:: 6.00 pm
PLACE: Virtual
Democratic Services contact: Lisa Young

PAUL GRANT 
BOROUGH SOLICITOR AND MONITORING OFFICER

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Councillor Mrs Huggins (Mayor) and Councillor Hook (Chairman)

Councillor Ms Ballard
Councillor Bateman
Councillor Burgess
Councillor Chegwyn
Councillor Mrs Cully
Councillor Foster-Reed
Councillor Herridge

Councillor Mrs Hook
Councillor Hylands
Councillor Jessop
Councillor Murphy
Councillor Philpott
Councillor Mrs Prickett
Councillor Raffaelli

Public Document Pack



NOTE:

i. Councillors are requested to note that, if any Councillor who is not a Member of the Board 
wishes to speak at the Board meeting, then the Borough Solicitor is required to receive 
not less than 24 hours prior notice in writing or electronically and such notice shall 
indicate the agenda item or items on which the member wishes to speak. 

ii. Please note that mobile phones should be switched off or switched to silent for the duration 
of the meeting.

iii. This meeting may be filmed or otherwise recorded. By attending this meeting, you are 
consenting to any broadcast of your image and being recorded. 



Policy and Organisation Board
29 September 2020

AGENDA

RECOMMENDED 
MINUTE FORMAT

1.  APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3.  MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BOARD HELD ON 
28/07/2020 

4.  DEPUTATIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.4 

(NOTE: The Board is required to receive a deputation(s) on a matter 
which is before the meeting of the Board provided that notice of the 
intended deputation and its object shall have been received by the 
Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Friday 25th September 2020)

5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.5 

(NOTE: The Board is required to allow a total of 15 minutes for 
questions from Members of the public on matters within the terms of 
reference of the Board provided that notice of such Question(s) shall 
have been submitted to the Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Friday 
25th September 2020).
 

6.  ELECTORAL REVIEW BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR ENGLAND 

To advise the Board of the next steps required by the Borough 
Council regarding the statutory review currently being undertaken by 
the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE), 
and to make recommendations to Full Council.

7.  UPDATED WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY 

To seek approval from Members in regards to the updated draft 
Whistleblowing Policy 2020.

8.  FEES AND CHARGES 

To consider and approve the amended Fees & Charges contained in 
this report and appendix.



Policy and Organisation Board
29 September 2020

9.  COVID UPDATE 

Report to follow. 

10.  ANY OTHER ITEMS 



Policy and Organisation Board
28 July 2020

1

A MEETING OF THE POLICY AND ORGANISATION BOARD
WAS HELD ON 28 JULY 2020

Councillors Mrs Huggins (Substituting for Mrs Hook), Ms Ballard, Bateman, Burgess, 
Chegwyn, Mrs Cully, Foster-Reed, Herridge, Hook, Hylands, Jessop, Murphy, Philpott, 
Mrs Prickett and Raffaelli

7. APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE 

An apology for non attendance was received from Councillor Mrs Hook. 

8. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Mrs Ballard declared a personal interest in agenda item 8, Emergency 
Procurement – IT equipment and Housing Pods as she worked with a number of residents 
in her employment and worked for an organisation mentioned in the report. 

9. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BOARD HELD ON 16 MARCH 2020 AND 10 
JUNE 2020 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Board meeting held on 16 March 2020 and 10 June 
2020 be signed as a true and correct record. 

10. DEPUTATIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.4 

There were none. 

11. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.5 

There were none. 

12. EXTERNAL AUDIT 2019-20 AUDIT PLAN UPDATE 

Consideration was given to a report of the external auditor setting out the updated 
assessments of the key risks driving the development of an effective audit for the Council, 
and outlining our planned audit strategy in response to those risks, updated as a result of 
Covid-19.

David White was invited to address the Board, he advised that the main audit plan had 
been previously presented to the Standards and Governance Committee and cross 
referenced to Policy and Organisation Board. 

The Board was advised that the risk assessment had been revisited as a result of the 
Covid-19 pandemic and the purpose of the report was to report any updates to the risk 
assessment as a result of the pandemic. 

The changes were highlighted to the Board including the increased risk around the 
valuation of investment properties as it was previously determined to be an area of focus, 
with a higher inherent risk and this had been revised to be considered a significant risk as a 

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 3



Policy and Organisation Board
28 July 2020

2

result of the impact of the pandemic on the viability of businesses and on rentals and 
potentially the valuation of investment property. 

There was uncertainty in the in the valuation of assets that were valued with reference to 
market factors and the professional body for valuers had advised its members that this 
needed to been recognised as a material uncertainty. 

Members were advised that it did not mean the valuations should not be relied upon, but 
should be treated with a greater degree of caution. A slightly larger sample would 
potentially need to be tested and the internal property valuation specialists would be used 
to assist the auditors with their review of the balance in the accounts this year.

Members were advised that in relation to the rest of land and buildings within the accounts 
the impact was not as significant as on investment properties as they were not valued with 
reference to market factors. 

There was a greater focus on the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of 
the financial statements. The Council is defined as a going concern under statute, but this 
focus related specifically to the financial pressure that the Council was under as a result of 
the pandemic. 

The Board was advised that the new accounting standards for leases, IFRS 16 had 
dropped out of the plan it would have been introduced in 2020/21 but had been deferred as 
a result of a pandemic. 

The Board was advised that the audit was work in progress and that it was being 
undertaken entirely remotely, which was a new experience. In addition, internal consultation 
requirements, which all audits were considering before issuing audit opinions. 

Members welcomed the report and the assessments that had been undertaken, recognising 
the uncertainty the pandemic had brought. In answer to a Member’s question, the Board 
was advised that the use of specialists with to provide enhanced expertise, to assess the 
market with regard to the valuations, to drill down further and to look across the market at 
the factors currently under consideration to determine reasonableness. It was important to 
seek specialist advised to ensure that valuations were materially correct. It was 
acknowledged that the issues that had arisen as a result of Covid -19 would be even more 
prominent next year and that the report was a snapshot as of 31st March 2020 and the key 
impacts would be felt the following year. The Board was advised that there was likely to be 
an increase in the fee paid by the Council but that any increase outside the scale fee would 
be subject to discussions with the Borough Treasurer and approval by the PSAA before it 
could be charged to the Council. 

A vote was taken and the Board was unanimous in noting the report. 

RESOLVED: That the 2019/20 Audit Plan Update be reviewed and the update to the risks 
and areas of focus identified, and that the external auditor’s planned response to them be 
noted. 

13. PROPOSED WAR MEMORIAL AT STOKES BAY 



Policy and Organisation Board
28 July 2020

3

Consideration was given to a report of the HAZ Programme Manager seeking Member 
approval to locate a new War Memorial in Stokes Bay to coincide with the 75th Anniversary 
of the end of World War 2 and recognise the important role the area played in the war 
effort.

Members debated the proposal. It was felt that the debt owed to those that were involved in 
WW2 would never be paid back and that it was important to provide such memorials to 
promote questioning from future generations as to what part their ancestors played in the 
War and the sacrifice made to ensure memories of them remained and to show the value of 
veterans to the Country.

Some Members recognised the significance of all conflicts and the part that both the 
veterans and the Borough had played in them, including the Falklands War, and welcomed 
a heritage project and recognition for service personnel. Concern was expressed that the 
timing of the proposal as one to recognise the 75th Anniversary of the end of World War 2 
was not appropriate as this had already passed. They advised that the report was to 
approve the funding of the memorial, as opposed to the consideration of the provision for 
one. 

Concern was expressed at the proposal to approve £30,000 to develop the design and 
secure planning permission and a further £50,000 to deliver the project and that this could 
increase at a particularly challenging time financially for the Council.

It was felt that additional planning was required before the proposal was presented for 
consideration and that it should be reconsidered and re-presented to the Board to 
commemorate the 80th Anniversary of the end of the war to allow for more consideration to 
be given to the proposal and for greater consultation be undertaken with veterans groups 
and more community groups as well as the D-Day Fellowship and potentially look at 
additional sources of funding such as crowd funders and veterans association funding. 

Members acknowledged that the timing of the proposal had slipped, but also acknowledged 
that the generation involved in the War were also advancing in age and it was important to 
try and provide the memorial to ensure as many of them as possible remaining were able to 
see it and it was therefore inappropriate to delay it any longer.  It was also acknowledged 
that the HAZ work was also time limited. 

Members were advised that the scheme had been considered previously but that the 
project had slipped as a result of Covid-19 and that the proposal came as a result of the 
success and support by the public for the commemoration event held on the 75th 
anniversary of D-Day and that the proposal was for a contemplation space, that included 
the re-siting of some existing memorials. This would provide a space for those of an age 
that contributed to WW2 so that they were able to remember and reflect and that it should 
provide a space to commemorate the beach landings, D-Day and the end of WW2. 

It was felt that the cost was a small price to pay to recognise not only those that fought in 
the war, but those that served on the home front, acknowledging the bravery, loyalty and 
sacrifice given and that if now wasn’t the right time, when was? As it was felt it was the duty 
of the Council to recognise the efforts made. 



Policy and Organisation Board
28 July 2020

4

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that the HAZ money was already 
confirmed and that the £50,000 was from the capital programme underspend and that there 
was funding in place for the scheme. 

The importance of a space for reflection for those with personal connections to the War, 
and that recognition of those that gave their all to allow the Country to live as it does today 
was recognised and the significance of Stokes Bay to the memorial was also 
acknowledged.

The Board was advised that all funding options would be explored to reduce the cost.

It was felt that further investigation should be undertaken to research additional income 
streams, including the D-Day Fellowship and other organisations that had been keen to 
support it and that consideration should be given to a scheme to generate public support, in 
a similar way to the Millennium Walk to allow the memorial to be a community memorial 
rather than a Council memorial.

 A vote on the proposal was taken and the recommendation was agreed with 9 votes for 
and 6 against. 

RESOLVED: That the funding required to enable this project to be delivered be granted, 
subject to planning permission be approved. 

14. EMERGENCY PROCUREMENT IT EQUIPMENT/HOUSING PODS 

Councillor Ms Ballard declared a personal interest in this item, and took no part in the 
discussion or voting there on. 

Consideration was given to the report of the Borough Solicitor and Monitoring Officer 
detailing the procurement made in relation to IT equipment for the Town Hall and the 
provision of housing accommodation for rough sleepers and the homeless in Walpole Park. 

The Board welcomed the unique opportunity Covid-19 had provided to try and reduce the 
homelessness levels in Gosport and recognised the value of the pods in helping to address 
this and helping to provide a long-term, secure future including support services in addition 
to temporary housing and welcomed the sympathetic approach the Council had taken. 

Members welcomed that there should be a complete support package for those that require 
help. 

In answer to a Member’s question the Board was advised that it was hoped that 
negotiations could be undertaken with the 101 hostel to establish whether they could 
reconfigure any of their space to provide support to those that needed it the worst weather 
conditions. Members also expressed concern that the pods would be exposed to poor 
weather in the winter as they were located in an open space. 

Members welcomed the efforts that Council staff had made to implement the provision in a 
difficult situation, and that they had undertaken exceptional work in accommodate those 
that were homeless. 



Policy and Organisation Board
28 July 2020

5

Members reiterated a desire to see the support for those that were homeless continued and 
hoped that Government funding would be available to do so. 

Members also acknowledged that homelessness numbers had far exceeded what had been 
predicted, adding to the pressure on the services.

The Board was advised that the current difficulty with the 101 hostel and the winter beds 
scheme was that with the current pandemic, there was potential to bring in residents to the 
facility in mixed rooms without any knowledge of their medical history, potentially 
compromising the residents located in their individual rooms as bathrooms and facilities 
were shared and that this issue would be replicated in Churches and other communal 
facilities. It was hoped that the way in which the services were delivered could be 
reassessed, as many different services were currently having to reassess working practices 
as a result of Covid-19. 

Members also expressed concern at the restrictions placed by estate agents meaning that 
those in need could not secure permanent properties as they could not get a guarantor for 
their payments and that this was obstructive to long term housing for them. 

A vote on the recommendation was taken and unanimously agreed. 

RESOLVED: That the Board:
i) Notes the procurements made in relation to IT equipment for Council staff to enable 

critical council services to remain operational through remote working and the 
provision of Housing accommodation for rough sleepers and the homeless at 
Walpole Park

ii) Approves the procurement of the Housing accommodation at Walpole Park together 
with associated services, as set out in the report.

15. CCTV MONITORING CONTRACT EXTENSION 

Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Corporate Policy and Communication 
Safety seeking approval to utilize the optional extension provision in the CCTV monitoring 
contract for the period of one year. 

Members welcomed the proposal and the recommendation was unanimously agreed. 

RESOLVED: That the Board agree a one year contract extension with Enigma Security 
Solutions and approve the Borough Solicitor entering into a legal agreement with Fareham 
Borough Council to meet its costs of the contract extension.

16. ANY OTHER ITEMS 

There were none.

CHAIRMAN

Concluded at 7.03 pm



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM NO. 

Board/Committee: POLICY & ORGANISATION BOARD
Date of Meeting: TUESDAY, 29 SEPTEMBER 2020
Title: ELECTORAL REVIEW BY THE LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR 
ENGLAND

Author: ELECTORAL REGISTRATION OFFICER
Status: FOR DECISION & RECOMMENDATION TO FULL 

COUNCIL

Purpose

To advise the Board of the next steps required by the Borough 
Council regarding the statutory review currently being undertaken by 
the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE), 
and to make recommendations to Full Council.

Recommendation

1. To approve the following proposals and documents as set out in 
this report for recommendation to Full Council on Wednesday 07 
October 2020:
a) Local Government Boundary Commission for England: 

Polling District Forecasting Tool for the Borough of Gosport – 
attached as Appendix 1;

b) Council Size submission for the Borough of Gosport to the 
LGBCE – attached as Appendix 4 (to follow);

c) Gosport remains with the current electoral cycle and elects 
by halves;

d) Gosport remains with the current ‘alternative arrangements’;
e) authority be delegated to the Electoral Registration Officer, in 

consultation with the Leader of the Council, to make further 
editing changes, correction and updates to the Council Size 
document prior to submission to the LGBCE.

1.0 Background

1.1 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) 
informed the Council that they would be undertaking a statutory 
review of the electoral arrangements with regard to the Electoral 
Ward boundaries at an informal meeting with The Leader of the 
Council, the Chief Executive and the Electoral Registration Officer in 
January 2020.

Agenda Item 6



1.2

1.3

1.4 

Three briefings led by the LGBCE took place in June with the 
Officers Group, Political Group Leaders and all Elected Members.

The next steps required of the Council are to submit the Electoral 
Forecast for 2026 and the Council Size submission, which are before 
the P&O Board this evening. The recommendations from this Board 
will be taken to the next Full Council meeting for approval, to meet 
the deadlines of draft submission by 12 October and final submission 
by 02 November 2020, as outlined in LGBCE briefings delivered to 
all Elected Members in June 2020.

The Officers’ Group have been progressing their actions since these 
meetings, and now have the Electoral Forecast template completed, 
based on the information currently available to officers on planned 
developments across the Borough between July 2020 through to 
2026, as required.

1.5 Informal discussions on this document have been held between 
Gosport’s Electoral Registration Officer (ERO) and the LGBCE 
Officers. The suggestions and comments from the LGBCE Review 
Officer have been actioned and cross referenced in Appendix 1.

2.0 Report

2.1

2.2

2.3

Electoral Forecast for the Borough of Gosport in 2026
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) 
has a statutory duty to ensure that all its reviews are based on robust 
forecasts of future electorates.

The Borough Council has to provide some historical elector data 
using the Polling District Forecasting Tool spreadsheet supplied by 
the LGBCE. The form automatically generates provisional Polling 
District level forecasts for the authority based on both the Office of 
National Statistics (ONS) population forecasts and the historical 
elector data entered.

The LGBCE requires the Borough Council to provide Polling District 
elector counts for the last three years. The exact years requested 
were for July 2018, July 2019 and July 2020.

2.4 The spreadsheet allowed the Borough Council to enter the Polling 
District data. The Council used a combination of this and ONS data 
to produce a forecast of each Polling District’s electorate in the 
future.

2.5 The last few columns allow the Borough Council to challenge the 
forecast and then provide some reasoning, which has resulted in 7 
of the forecasted Polling Districts being challenged (GB3, GF1, GG1, 
GJ3, GL1, GQ1 and GQ2) due to new developments within the 
Electoral Wards between 2020-2026.



 

2.6 Electoral Cycle for the Borough of Gosport
Currently the Borough of Gosport elects in halves, with a Councillor 
from each Electoral Ward up for election every two years. Before 
2000, when the current electoral ward boundaries were introduced 
following the last review, Gosport had 10 Wards with 3 Councillors 
in each.

2.7 As the Borough Council is having a statutory review of its Electoral 
Wards, it also seems appropriate to undertake a review of the 
electoral cycle at the same time. Although this falls outside of the 
scope of the review being undertaken by the LGBCE, the Borough 
Council can decide its electoral cycle under powers set out in the 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and 
from the Localism Act 2011.

2.8

2.9

2.10

The options available to the Borough Council are as follows:
1. Remain with the election by halves;
2. Request that the Secretary of State  approves a move back 

to election by thirds;
3. Hold ‘all out’ elections every four years.

There are 131 District Councils that currently hold all out elections, 
54 that elect in thirds, and seven that elect in halves. 

It is proposed that Gosport remains with the current electoral cycle 
and elects by halves, following the Local Government Elections held 
in May 2022.

2.11 Electoral Arrangements
As the Borough Council is having a statutory review of its Electoral 
Wards, it also seems appropriate to undertake a review of the 
electoral arrangements for completeness. Although this is outside of 
the scope of the review being undertaken by the LGBCE, the 
Borough Council can decide its electoral arrangements under 
powers set out in the Local Government Act 2000, amended in part 
by the Localism Act 2011.

2.12 The Borough Council is currently an ‘alternative arrangements’ 
(Committee system) authority and the Electoral Arrangements used 
by the Authority will form the basis and the cornerstone of the 
submission to the LGBCE on our Council Size requirements.

2.13 The options available to the Council under the Local Government 
Act 2000 are as follows:

1. Remain as is, using the ‘alternative arrangements’;
2. Mayor and cabinet executive:  this may consist of—

(a) an elected mayor of the authority, and



(b) two or more  (but no more than 10) councillors of the 
authority appointed to the executive by the elected mayor.

3. Leader and cabinet executive: this may consist of—
(a) a councillor of the authority (the executive leader) elected 

as leader of the executive by the authority, and
(b) two or more councillors (but no more than 10) of the 

authority appointed to the executive by one of the 
following—
(i) the executive leader (known as the 'strong leader' 
model) , or
(ii) the authority.

4. Mayor and council manager executive: this may consist of—
(a) an elected mayor of the authority, and
(b) an officer of the authority (referred to in this Part as the 

council manager) appointed to the executive by the 
authority.

2.14 Most Local Authorities within Hampshire are following the Leader 
and Cabinet Executive arrangements (their size of electorate does 
not allow them to use the ‘alternative arrangements’ system). The 
only other Council in Hampshire that is allowed to consider the 
‘alternative arrangements’ system is Rushmoor, who have chosen 
the Leader and Cabinet system.

2.15

2.16

2.17

2.18

Any change to the Electoral Arrangements will require approval by 
the Secretary of State (SoS), as outlined in the Localism Act 2011 
and the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007. Before the request is made to the SoS a resolution of Full 
Council would be required under the Constitution; however the 
Council is not required to hold a Community Governance 
Referendum on the matter.

It is proposed that Gosport remains with the current ‘alternative 
arrangements’, as it is believed that this arrangement of Boards and 
Committees provides greater Elected Member involvement in the 
strategic aims and operations of the Council.

Appendix 2 attached to this report shows the comparison of 
neighbouring Local Authorities, with electorate total, number of 
Electoral Wards, number of Polling Districts and the Average 
Electors per Councillor, both for the current Gosport arrangements, 
and also for the proposed arrangements.

New Forest District Council are currently undergoing a statutory 
review of the electoral size, and have submitted their Council Size 
documentation, and are currently working with the LGBCE on the 
Warding Arrangements. Their current and proposed electoral 
information has been included in Appendix 2.



2.19

2.20

2.21

2.22

2.23

2.24

2.25

Council Size
The Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction 
Act 2009 gives the LGBCE the power to review the electoral 
arrangements of all principal councils in England.

The legislation states that ‘the total number of members of the 
council’ forms part of an authority’s electoral arrangements. The 
LGBCE refers to this more simply as ‘council size’. The legislation 
does not set out how many members/councillors each authority will 
have. It is the Commission’s responsibility to determine the 
appropriate number of councillors for each authority. 

Electoral reviews take place infrequently and the LGBCE wants 
Local Authorities to take the opportunity to ask themselves questions 
about the important roles of Councillors in providing leadership, 
securing accountability and offering community leadership. 

The Council Size submission is attached at Appendix 4. The main 
recommendation of the submission is that the Borough of Gosport is 
composed of 28 Councillors from the Local Government Elections 
held in May 2022 onwards.

This figure has been reached by assessing the Council’s 
governance arrangements in the context of the LGBCE criteria. The 
LGBCE is expecting to receive the Council’s submission in respect 
of Council Size by no later than Monday 02 November 2020. 

As part of the ongoing dialogue between the Borough Council and 
the LGBCE, the Council’s draft proposals have been shared with the 
LGBCE review team. To ensure any feedback from the LGBCE is 
adequately reflected in the Council’s final submission, it is proposed 
that authority be delegated to the Electoral Registration Officer, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, to make further editing 
changes, correction and updates to the document prior to 
submission. It is anticipated that these will be minor in nature. 

Approval by P&O Board and by Full Council would not stop the 
submission of Council Size proposals and evidence from any 
political or other interested party within the Borough, even if they 
have representation on this Board.The LGBCE clearly states in its 
guidance:
 All submissions will be considered equally, and decisions will be 

made based on the strength of evidence put forward; and
 Where the Commission receives multiple finely balanced 

proposals, or a single poorly evidenced case, it may request 
further information from the respondents. If further information is 
not forthcoming, the Commission reserves the right to put forward 
its own number based on its own experience and judgement. It 
may also choose to carry out a period of consultation. 



3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

Next steps

It is anticipated that the LGBCE will make a decision on Council size 
on 04 January 2021. It should be noted that this figure may 
subsequently be amended if necessary, to allow for a warding 
pattern to be developed which produces electoral equality as best as 
possible. Any such amendments would likely be minor, i.e. +1 or -1. 

Once the Council Size submission is complete, the Officer Group will 
focus efforts on developing warding pattern proposals for 
submission in early March 2021. 

The process will conclude with the publication of the LGBCE final 
recommendations in November 2021, before the necessary 
parliamentary orders are laid and then made from December 2021 
into early 2022. The new electoral arrangements will be 
implemented from the May 2022 Local Government Elections 
onwards.

4.0 Risk Assessment

4.1 The Council has to comply with the requirements of the LGBCE 
statutory review.

Financial Implications: No comments received
Legal Implications: Contained within the report
Crime and Disorder: No comments received

Equality and Diversity: No equality impact assessment (EIA) has 
been carried out as recommendations in 
the report are not considered to 
discriminate on the basis of any protected 
characteristic of the Equality Act 2010.
The Electoral Registration Officer (ERO) 
is required to have regard to the public 
sector equality duty contained in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010 when carrying out 
his duties.

Equality Impact Assessment: N/A
Service Improvement Plan: N/A
Corporate Plan: This process aligns with the Strategic 

Priorities to ‘Deliver effective services’ and 
‘Empower our residents’

Risk Assessment: Failure to make submissions of Electoral 
Forecast and Council size and evidence 
would result in the LGBCE having to made 
recommendations on limited local 
knowledge and experience, which could 



provide problems for the Council is 
ensuring it is meeting is statutory 
obligations to the residents and business 
in the Borough of Gosport

Background papers: 1. LGBCE Full Council Presentation on the 
Boundary Review for Gosport

2. LGBCE Members Briefing Pack
Appendices:
Appendix 1 Local Government Boundary Commission 

for England: Polling District Forecasting 
Tool for the Borough of Gosport

Appendix 2 Electorate and Wards comparisons with 
neighbours

Appendix 3 The LGBCE guidance on making a strong 
submission

Appendix 4 – to follow Council Size submission for the Borough 
of Gosport to the LGBCE

Report author/Lead Officer: Graeme Jesty



This page is intentionally left blank



Select
Authority Gosport Jul-20

Please complete all columns with black headers. Grey columns will update automatically, and green ones are for our use only.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Polling District
Code

Is it in a parish?
Name it

Is it in a parish
ward? Name it

Is it in a group of
parishes with a joint
parish council? Name
it

Which ward is it in?
Name it

Electorate in
2018

Electorate in
2019

Electorate in
2020

Polling
District Code

Our polling district
forecast

Difference from
2018

Do you wish to challenge this
forecast? (Y/N)

Polling
District

Parish Parish Ward Grouped Parish
Council

Exisiting Ward Electorate
2018

Electorate
2019

Electorate
2020

PD Standardised
2026 Electorate
Forecast

Difference Challenge?

GA1 Alverstoke 1189 1151 1190 GA1 1222 32 No
GA2 Alverstoke 1185 1215 1206 GA2 1248 42 No
GA3 Alverstoke 1129 1125 1136 GA3 1173 37 No
GB1 Anglesey 928 920 960 GB1 972 12 No
GB2 Anglesey 1007 1019 1011 GB2 1051 40 No
GB3 Anglesey 1061 1037 1026 GB3 1081 55 Yes
GC1 Bridgemary North 1036 1026 1053 GC1 1078 25 No
GC2 Bridgemary North 1278 1263 1275 GC2 1321 46 No
GC3 Bridgemary North 1218 1210 1194 GC3 1254 60 No
GD1 Bridgemary South 995 1011 1020 GD1 1047 27 No
GD2 Bridgemary South 1303 1303 1311 GD2 1356 45 No
GD3 Bridgemary South 1279 1302 1299 GD3 1343 44 No
GE1 Brockhurst 849 846 853 GE1 882 29 No
GE2 Brockhurst 1337 1338 1328 GE2 1386 58 No
GE3 Brockhurst 1539 1524 1576 GE3 1605 29 No
GF1 Christchurch 1499 1559 1589 GF1 1608 19 Yes
GF2 Christchurch 968 963 1011 GF2 1018 7 No
GF3 Christchurch 1390 1378 1395 GF3 1441 46 No
GG1 Elson 1772 1758 1797 GG1 1844 47 Yes
GG2 Elson 1751 1719 1737 GG2 1802 65 No
GH1 Forton 930 932 938 GH1 969 31 No
GH2 Forton 1492 1505 1511 GH2 1560 49 No
GH3 Forton 916 904 943 GH3 956 13 No
GI1 Grange 2138 2165 2217 GI1 2256 39 No
GI2 Grange 1815 1897 1999 GI2 1976 -23 No
GJ1 Hardway 1652 1635 1666 GJ1 1714 48 No
GJ2 Hardway 1180 1151 1133 GJ2 1199 66 No
GJ3 Hardway 1429 1401 1459 GJ3 1484 25 Yes
GK1 Lee East 1550 1589 1602 GK1 1641 39 No
GK2 Lee East 1342 1322 1352 GK2 1390 38 No
GK3 Lee East 1670 1674 1723 GK3 1754 31 No
GL1 Lee West 1500 1498 1547 GL1 1573 26 Yes
GL2 Lee West 1196 1204 1231 GL2 1257 26 No



GL3 Lee West 1393 1398 1372 GL3 1441 69 No
GM1 Leesland 1073 1100 737 GM1 1008 271 No
GM2 Leesland 1579 1546 1547 GM2 1617 70 No
GM3 Leesland 879 897 1217 GM3 1035 -182 No
GN1 Peel Common 1162 1145 1175 GN1 1205 30 No
GN2 Peel Common 1187 1176 1187 GN2 1229 42 No
GN3 Peel Common 1000 1011 1000 GN3 1042 42 No
GO1 Privett 1467 1472 1466 GO1 1525 59 No
GO2 Privett 1825 1814 1837 GO2 1895 58 No
GP1 Rowner and Holbrook 1837 1850 1854 GP1 1918 64 No
GP2 Rowner and Holbrook 1388 1430 1485 GP2 1489 4 No
GQ1 Town 1702 1738 1785 GQ1 1808 23 Yes
GQ2 Town 1164 1182 1221 GQ2 1234 13 Yes
GQ3 Town 952 950 972 GQ3 995 23 No

62,131 62,253 63,143 64,901 1,758







































Don’t delete entire rows in this
document, just right click and
clear content

Everything right of
this line is for internal
use only

2019 Total 126286

Automated Total 129802.7474
Final Total 0

10 11

Whats is your predicted
electorate?

Why have you
reached this number?

Polling
District
Code

Your 2026 Electorate
Forecast

Reasons PD2 Final Electorate New Ward

1222 GA1
1248 GA2
1173 GA3
972 GB1

1051 GB2
2094 New developments within the Electoral Ward between 2020-2026 as outlined in evidenceGB3
1078 GC1
1321 GC2
1254 GC3
1047 GD1
1356 GD2
1343 GD3
882 GE1

1386 GE2
1605 GE3
1702 New developments within the Electoral Ward between 2020-2026 as outlined in evidenceGF1
1018 GF2
1441 GF3
1936 New developments within the Electoral Ward between 2020-2026 as outlined in evidenceGG1
1802 GG2
969 GH1

1560 GH2
956 GH3

2256 GI1
1976 GI2
1714 GJ1
1199 GJ2
1703 New developments within the Electoral Ward between 2020-2026 as outlined in evidenceGJ3
1641 GK1
1390 GK2
1754 GK3
2186 New developments within the Electoral Ward between 2020-2026 as outlined in evidenceGL1
1257 GL2



1441 GL3
1008 GM1
1617 GM2
1035 GM3
1205 GN1
1229 GN2
1042 GN3
1525 GO1
1895 GO2
1918 GP1
1489 GP2
2570 New developments within the Electoral Ward between 2020-2026 as outlined in evidenceGQ1
1438 New developments within the Electoral Ward between 2020-2026 as outlined in evidenceGQ2
995 GQ3

67,898 0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0



0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

















T
his page is intentionally left blank



Electorate and Wards

**As of 01 July 2020 Numbers Councillors Parishes?
Governance

arrangements

Local Authority Electorate Wards Polling Districts

Number of
Electoral

Ward
Councillors

Average
Electors per

Ward

Average
Electors per
Councillor Yes or No

Basingstoke and Deane No data received No data received No data received

Eastleigh 103,739 14 64 39 7,410 2,660 Yes Cabinet and
Committees

East Hampshire No data received No data received No data received

Fareham 91,430 15 65 31 6,100 2,949 No Leader and
Cabinet

Gosport 63,143 17 47 34 3,710 1,857 No Alternative
arrangements

Hart 72,905 11 48 33 6,630 2,209 Yes Leader and
Cabinet

Havant 97,112 14 63 38 6,940 2,556 No Leader and
Cabinet

Isle of Wight 112,118 39 75 40 2,870 2,803 Yes Leader and
Cabinet

New Forest 143,504 34 107 60 4,220 2,392 Yes Leader and
Cabinet

Portsmouth 153,329 14 78 42 10,950 3,651 No Leader and
Cabinet

Rushmoor 66,163 13 24 39 5,090 1,696 No Leader and
Cabinet

Southampton 174,156 16 95 48 10,880 3,628 No Leader and
Cabinet

Test Valley 98,225 20 107 43 4,910 2,284 Yes
Leader and

Cabinet with
Committees

Winchester 94,841 16 92 45 5,930 2,108 Yes Leader and
Cabinet

Total 1,077,600 492 2,190 2,190

New Forest (possible review
outcome)

143,504 34 107 48 4,220 2,990 Yes Leader and
Cabinet

Gosport (proposal) 67,898 14 47 28 4,850 2,425 No Alternative
arrangements



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
  

Local Government Boundary Commission for England 

Council Size 
Guidance 
A guide to making a strong submission 



 
 

Page | 1  
 

Contents 
Introduction ................................................................................................................ 2 

What is Council Size? ................................................................................................ 2 

General Principles ...................................................................................................... 2 

Approach .................................................................................................................... 4 

Multiple Submissions and Balancing the Evidence .................................................... 5 

Making a Submission ................................................................................................. 5 

 

  



 
 

Page | 2  
 

Introduction 
1. This guidance will assist interested parties in preparing their submission on 

council size to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (‘the 
Commission’) as part of the electoral review process. It highlights the range of 
issues that the Commission considers when determining council size and will 
help councillors, officers and others in making strong and well-evidenced 
submissions.   
 

2. The starting point for every review is to decide the appropriate number of 
councillors for the authority. While the final decision on council size rests with the 
Commission, its approach has always been one of dialogue with each council 
that it reviews. The Commission’s view is that a ‘good’ review is one where the 
local authority actively engages with the process. Ideally, the Commission’s 
decision will be informed by locally generated proposals and underpinned by 
sound evidence and reasoning.  

 
 

What is Council Size? 
3. The Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 20091 (‘the 

2009 Act’) gives the Commission the power to review the electoral arrangements 
of all, or any, principal councils in England. 

 
4. The legislation states that ‘the total number of members of the council’ forms part 

of an authority’s electoral arrangements. The Commission refers to this more 
simply as ‘council size’. The legislation does not set out how many members (or 
councillors) each authority (or type of authority) will have. It is the Commission’s 
responsibility to determine the appropriate number of councillors for each 
authority.  

 
5. The Commission will always recommend a council size that, in its judgement, 

enables the council to take its decisions effectively, to discharge the business 
and responsibilities of the council successfully, and to provide for effective 
community leadership and representation.    

 
 

General Principles 
6. The Commission recognises that there is considerable variation in council size 

across England, not only between different types of local authority – metropolitan, 
unitary, shire district and county councils, and London boroughs – but also 
between authorities of the same type. 
 

7. In the Commission’s opinion, local government is as diverse as the communities 
it serves – providing leadership, services and representation suited to the 
characteristics and needs of individual areas. The Commission aims to 
recommend electoral arrangements, including council size, which are appropriate 
for the particular local authority. 

                                            
1 Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009, s.55–9 
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/20/pdfs/ukpga_20090020_en.pdf  

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/20/pdfs/ukpga_20090020_en.pdf


 
 

Page | 3  
 

 
8. The way in which local authorities conduct their business and provide for the 

effective representation of their electorate has changed considerably over recent 
decades. The implementation of the Local Government Act 2000 (‘the 2000 Act’) 
saw most local authorities change how they made decisions and operate. 
Similarly, subsequent legislation, including the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 and the Localism Act 2011, introduced further 
opportunities for local government to modify governance and management 
arrangements. In addition, partnership working, developments in service delivery, 
and digital working have also impacted on local authorities. 

 

9. Many local authorities have not, or have only slightly, modified their number of 
elected members since they were established several decades ago. This is not to 
imply that current numbers are inappropriate but, rather than simply assuming 
that the existing numbers remain appropriate, the Commission recommends that 
councils think afresh about the matter.  

 
10. An electoral review provides the opportunity for respondents to think carefully 

about current arrangements in the context of modern governance and service 
delivery needs; and what these mean for the future in terms of the number of 
elected members.  

 
11. The Commission wants to see evidence that several different council size options 

have been explored together with the reasons why a particular figure has, or has 
not, been selected. This should be done irrespective of whether the respondent 
arrives at the same or a different number of elected members. The most 
persuasive submissions are those which, rather than considering whether the 
current number ought not to be changed, reflect on what number of councillors 
would be required if the council was being newly established.      

 
12. The Commission does not recommend that any submissions made on council 

size need to be particularly long. However, submissions should be made on the 
Commission’s Council Size Submission Template and demonstrate careful 
thinking about the issues.  Electoral reviews take place infrequently and the 
Commission wants local authorities to take the opportunity to ask themselves 
questions about the important roles of councillors in providing leadership, 
securing accountability and offering community leadership.  

 
13. The Commission seeks to understand elected member requirements across 

three aspects:  
 

• Strategic Leadership – how many councillors are needed to give 
strategic leadership and direction to the authority?  
 

• Accountability  
• Scrutiny – how many councillors are needed to provide scrutiny to 

the authority? 
• Regulatory – how many councillors are needed to meet the 

regulatory requirements of the authority? 



 
 

Page | 4  
 

• Partnerships – how many councillors are required to manage 
partnerships between the local authority and other organisations? 

 

• Community Leadership – how the representational role of councillors in 
the local community is discharged and how they engage with people and 
conduct casework. 

 
14. In every review, the Commission will make recommendations that will remain 

appropriate for the medium to longer term, i.e. to recommend a council size that 
delivers effective and convenient local government well after the completion of 
the electoral review. Accordingly, respondents should set out their longer-term 
vision for operation of the local authority. 

 
 

 Approach 
15. The Commission must construct electoral arrangements that reflect local 

circumstances, and in doing so will neither apply any strict mathematical criteria 
nor impose a formula for the national determination of council size. It is 
recommended that submissions clearly demonstrate the characteristics and 
needs of each local authority, and its communities, and how such factors have 
informed both the proposed and alternative council sizes considered.  
 

16. The Commission will refer to the CIPFA Nearest Neighbours Model for English 
authorities to help understand the contextual position of the authority being 
reviewed. This is a licensed2 dataset that shows groups of statistically similar 
councils and allows the Commission to identify ‘expected ranges’ for both the 
number of councillors and the councillor-to-elector ratios. This expected range is 
defined by an upper and lower quintile value with the median providing the 
midpoint figure. The data help the Commission understand how the authority 
under review compares with its nearest neighbours and, on occasion to query 
proposals that appear unexpected when compared with similar authorities.   

 
17. Local authorities should be mindful of the overall appropriateness of the proposed 

council sizes in terms of governance, specifically in ensuring that an authority is 
neither too small to discharge its statutory functions nor too large to function in an 
effective manner and with purposeful roles for all elected members. Accordingly, 
whilst recognising that such thresholds might vary depending on the type of local 
authority and its specific setting, the Commission will look for particularly strong 
evidence in support of proposals that place the authority amongst the highest and 
lowest levels of similar councils nationwide, especially where authorities would be 
below 30 or exceed 85 councillors in size.  

 
18. The Commission’s decision about an authority’s council size will mark the formal 

start to the review process. However, the Commission’s decision on council size 
will not be formalised until the Final Recommendations are agreed and published. 
This is because the number of councillors may change marginally (generally ±1) 

                                            
2 Under the terms of the data licence the Commission is unable to share the CIPFA Nearest 
Neighbour Model externally although some authorities will have access to the groupings through their 
own licences. The ‘expected ranges’, however, will be made available. 



 
 

Page | 5  
 

from the initial decision if it is felt that modifying the number of councillors may 
provide for a pattern of wards that better reflects the three statutory criteria.    

 
19. The Final Recommendations describe the complete set of electoral 

arrangements, including ward names and locations as well as the number of 
elected members, alongside parish warding arrangements. These 
recommendations will be implemented at the next election by means of an Order 
laid before Parliament.  

 
 

Multiple Submissions and Balancing the Evidence 
20. Political (or other) groups may present their own submissions to the Commission 

either alongside or as an alternative to the council’s formal submission. It is 
recommended that all submissions are underpinned by sound evidence and 
reasoning whether they propose to reduce, retain or increase councillor numbers.  
 

21. All submissions will be considered equally, and decisions will be made based on 
the strength of evidence put forward.  

 
22. Where the Commission receives multiple finely balanced proposals, or a 

single poorly evidenced case, it may request further information from the 
respondents. If further information is not forthcoming, the Commission 
reserves the right to put forward its own number based on its own 
experience and judgement. It may also choose to carry out a period of 
consultation. 

 
 

Making a Submission 
23. All submissions made to the Commission will follow the ‘Council Size 

Submission’ template. This template presents a broad set of issues for 
respondents to consider; however, the Commission does not require lengthy 
responses to every section. The Commission recommends that respondents use 
the opportunity to consider not just how the council works now but how it is likely 
to work in the future. Submissions will explain the reasoning that underpins and 
explains the proposed council size as well as describing the necessary 
arrangements.  
 

24. The submission will focus on three aspects of councillor roles: Strategic 
Leadership, Accountability and Community Leadership. However, the 
Commission will consider any further relevant issues raised outside of these 
topics. 

 

 



Council Size Submission
Gosport Borough Council



Page | 1 

Contents
How to Make a Submission ................................................................................................................................................................... 2
About You.............................................................................................................................................................................................. 2
Reason for Review (Request Reviews Only) ........................................................................................................................................2
Local Authority Profile............................................................................................................................................................................ 2
Council Size........................................................................................................................................................................................... 5
Other Issues ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 19



Page | 2 

How to Make a Submission
1. It is recommended that submissions on council size follow the format provided below. Submissions should focus on the future needs of the 

council and not simply describe the current arrangements. Submissions should also demonstrate that alternative council sizes have been 
considered in drawing up the proposal and why you have discounted them. 

2. The template allows respondents to enter comments directly under each heading.  It is not recommended that responses be unduly long; as a 
guide, it is anticipated that a 15 to 20-page document using this template should suffice. Individual section length may vary depending on the 
issues to be explained. Where internal documents are referred to URLs should be provided, rather than the document itself. It is also 
recommended that a table is included that highlights the key paragraphs for the Commission’s attention. 

About You
3. The respondent should use this space to provide the Commission with a little detail about who is making the submission, whether it is the full 

Council, Officers on behalf of the Council, a political party or group, or an individual. 

This submission is made by the Full Council of Gosport Borough Council.

The Council’s Policy & Organisation Board considered the Council Size submission on Tuesday, 29 September 2020 and [insert details of P&O 
resolution when finalised]. Full Council on Wednesday, 07 October 2020 [insert details of resolution when finalised – current proposal is that this 
document be submitted as the Council’s official Council Size submission to the LGBCE, delegating authority to the Electoral Registration Officer, 
in consultation with the Leader of the Council to make any further changes prior to submission]. Changes have been technical in nature, to 
update the electoral equality figures and include missing links.

Reason for Review (Request Reviews Only)
4. Please explain the authority’s reasons for requesting this electoral review; it is useful for the Commission to have context. NB/ If the 

Commission has identified the authority for review under one if its published criteria, then you are not required to answer this question.

The Commission identified Gosport for review due to the poor levels of electoral equality with 40% of Electoral Wards represented by members 
that represent significantly fewer or significantly more members than the average for the Borough.

Local Authority Profile
5. Please provide a short description of the authority and its setting. This should set the scene for the Commission and give it a greater 

understanding of any current issues. The description may cover all, or some of the following: 



Page | 3 

• Brief outline of area - are there any notable geographic constraints for example that may affect the review? 
• Rural or urban - what are the characteristics of the authority?  
• Demographic pressures - such as distinctive age profiles, migrant or transient populations, is there any large growth anticipated? 
• Are there any other constraints, challenges, issues or changes ahead?

Stretching over just 26 square kilometres (10 square miles), Gosport Borough is the twelfth smallest district in England and the smallest in 
Hampshire. The Borough sits on a peninsula adjacent to Fareham Borough and is surrounded on three sides by the Solent and Portsmouth 
Harbour, with a total of 39 kilometres (24 miles) of coastline.

There are two main settlements, Gosport and Lee-on-the-Solent, which are separated by the Alver Valley. The Borough is predominantly urban 
in character, with nearly three quarters ‘built on’1. Gosport Borough faces significant flood risk with approximately 4.4 square kilometres (1.7 
square miles) within a flood zone, representing 17% of the total land area. Nowhere in the Borough exceeds 15 metres above sea level.

The population of the Borough in 2011 was 82,600 people2, an increase of 8.1% from 2001. The latest estimates show the population of the 
Borough in 2020 was 85,108 people3, the smallest population of any district in Hampshire. The Borough is densely populated with almost 33 
people per hectare, almost nine times the England average at 3.7.

The latest long-term population projections show a slight decrease in the Borough’s population of 0.5% by 2036. The population is also ageing 
due largely to a longer life expectancy and a low birth rate. The proportion of the population over 65 is projected to increase from 20.7% in 2020 
to 28% in 20364, this represents over 6000 additional over 65s. As part of this trend, the proportion of the population living beyond 85 is also 
expected to increase by 1.8% by 2036.

At the same time, the number aged under 16 is expected to decrease from 18.3% of the population in 2020 to 15.7% in 2036. The working age 
population (16-64) is projected to decrease from 61% in 2020 to 56.2% in 2036, representing a reduction of 4,300 people. 94.4% of the 
Borough’s resident population describes itself as ‘white British’, with those from other ethnic groups having increased from 3.1% to 5.6% of the 
population between 2001 and 2011.

Gosport’s legacy as a support base for the Royal Navy is evidenced by the significant naval heritage across the Borough. The decline of the 
military around the Harbour has led to a significant supply of brownfield land and each site has a mix of issues including contamination, historic 
buildings and flood risk. Some sites have been redeveloped and others are available for re-use and will be redeveloped in the coming decades. 

1 A Land Cover Atlas of the UK: https://doi.org/10.15131/shef.data.5219956 
2 ONS Census (2011)
3 ONS mid-year population estimates (mid-2018)
4 ONS Sub-national population projections (2018-based

https://doi.org/10.15131/shef.data.5219956


Page | 4 

The declining presence of the military has resulted in substantial changes to the Borough’s economy and employment opportunities. These 
changes are set to continue with the potential closure of other military sites in the coming decade.  

Employment in the Borough has changed significantly over the past two decades; in 2018, there were 21% fewer jobs than in 2000. Many of the 
Boroughs residents now work in different locations. In 2011, 52% of residents commuted outside the Borough for work, particularly along the 
A27-M27 corridor in areas where the journey to work is predominantly by private car.

There are approximately 26,000 jobs in Gosport Borough which has declined by 21.2% from 33,000 jobs in 2000. In the Solent region, Gosport 
stands out as recording the lowest jobs density (at 0.5 jobs per working age resident) which not only falls significantly below the South East 
(0.88) and UK (0.86) averages but also ranks as the 11th lowest jobs density of all local authority areas in the UK5.

Key Issues

 The needs of all ages of the population are changing. An ageing population means residents will require different services and facilities. At 
the same time, opportunities for young people and future generations need to be maximised to reduce deprivation and provide jobs. 

 Growth is constrained by the peninsula location and amount of land in active military use. Large areas, previously used by the MoD, have 
significant contamination and are complex to redevelop.

 The low-lying geography and coastal location leave the Borough vulnerable to flood risk. Existing and new communities need to be protected 
as the Borough adapts to, and mitigates the impacts of climate change.

5 ONS jobs density (11th lowest in 2018) – this includes employees, self-employed, government-supported trainees and HM Forces (from MoD).

The Context for your proposal

Your submission gives you the opportunity to examine how you wish to organise and run the council for the next 15 years.  The Commission 
expects you to challenge your current arrangements and determine the most appropriate arrangements going forward. In providing context for 
your submission below, please demonstrate that you have considered the following issues. 

5 ONS jobs density (11th lowest in 2018) – this includes employees, self-employed, government-supported trainees and HM Forces (from MoD).



Page | 5 

 When did your Council last change/reorganise its internal governance arrangements and what impact on effectiveness did that activity 
have?

 To what extent has transference of strategic and/or service functions impacted on the effectiveness of service delivery and the ability of 
the Council to focus on its remaining functions?

 Have any governance or capacity issues been raised by any Inspectorate or similar?
 What impact on the Council’s effectiveness will your council size proposal have? 

The Borough Council ensures that its internal governance arrangements are reviewed, and this is carried out by the Standards and Governance 
Committee, who have “oversight of the Constitution, the operation of and amendments to the Constitution” as one of its terms of reference.

In May 2016 the Adjourned Annual Council meeting (held 19 May 2016) reviewed the arrangements for the discharge of the Council’s functions 
and agreed changes to the Boards and Committees (which had previously been reviewed and amended in May 2011). The May 2016 meeting 
took the decision that there was no need for a separate Overview and Scrutiny Committee and that the Service Boards would set up Task and 
Finish Groups to undertake the “short sharply focused pieces of work on the development and review of policies and initiatives of matters falling 
within the terms of reference of the Board”.

At the Full Council meeting held on 10 June 2020, the decision was taken to create a Climate Change Board and a Housing Board, and changes 
to the Community Board Terms of Reference due to the creation of the new Housing Board, as the Community Board had previously held the 
remit for Housing within its Terms of Reference.

Council Size
6. The Commission believes that councillors have three broad aspects to their role.  These are categorised as: Strategic Leadership, 

Accountability (Scrutiny, Regulation and Partnerships), and Community Leadership. Submissions should address each of these in turn and 
provide supporting evidence. Prompts in the boxes below should help shape responses.



Page | 6 

Strategic Leadership
7. Respondents should provide the Commission with details as to how elected members will provide strategic leadership for the authority. 

Responses should also indicate how many members will be required for this role and why this is justified. 

Topic

Key lines of 
explanation

 What governance model will your authority operate? e.g. Committee System, Executive or other?
 The Cabinet model, for example, usually requires 6 to 10 members. How many members will you 

require?
 If the authority runs a Committee system, we want to understand why the number and size of the 

committees you propose represents the most appropriate for the authority. 
 By what process does the council aim to formulate strategic and operational policies? How will 

members in executive, executive support and/or scrutiny positions be involved? What particular 
demands will this make of them?

 Whichever governance model you currently operate, a simple assertion that you want to keep the 
current structure does not in itself, provide an explanation of why that structure best meets the needs of 
the council and your communities.

Governance 
Model

Analysis

Gosport Borough Council operates the ‘alternative arrangements’ model of governance, with the current 
and anticipated future arrangements outlined in the “Portfolios” section of this submission. 

We have 34 Councillors in total, with the political balance of the Council as follows as at September 2020, 
following the last Borough Council elections in May 2018 (the Borough Council elections due in May 2020 
where postponed for 12months due to the Coronavirus pandemic):

Conservative – 18 
Liberal Democrat – 14 
Labour – 2

At its first Full Council meeting this year (held on Wednesday 11 June 2020), the Council allocated 102 
seats on its Boards and Committee, based on the current political balance of the Council. Seats are 
appointed in accordance with the principles of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, to ensure the 
majority group has the majority on all committees, to prevent domination by a single group, aggregating all 
seats and fair shares, and ensuring as far as practicable fairness on each committee. 



Page | 7 

Conservative Labour Liberal
Democrats

TOTAL

Members 18 2 14 34
Proportion 52.94% 5.88% 41.18% 100%
Seats 54 6 42 102

The current allocations of seats on each of the Council Boards and Committee are as follows:
Conservative Labour Liberal

Democrats
TOTAL

Policy and
Organisation Board 8 1 6 15
Community Board 8 1 6 15
Economic
Development Board 8 1 6 15
Housing Board 8 1 6 15
Climate Change 
Board 8 1 6 15
Regulatory Board 8 1 6 15
Standards and
Governance
Committee

6 0 6 12

TOTAL 54 6 42 102



Page | 8 

The following table shows the proposed number of seats on each of the Council Boards and Committee 
should the Council Size submission be accepted by the LGBCE:

TOTAL

Policy and
Organisation Board 12
Community Board 12
Economic
Development Board 12
Housing Board 12
Climate Change 
Board 12
Regulatory Board 12
Standards and
Governance
Committee

12

TOTAL 84

The resulting 84 seats split between 28 Councillors, would result in each Councillor sitting on 3 Boards or 
Committees, and would also give parity across all Council Boards and Committees as they would all have 
the same total number in their membership.

Key lines of 
explanation

 How many portfolios will there be? 
 What will the role of a portfolio holder be? 
 Will this be a full-time position? 
 Will decisions be delegated to portfolio holders? Or will the executive/mayor take decisions?

Portfolios

Analysis

Gosport Borough Council is not planning to change the current number of Council Boards and Committees 
following implementation of this Electoral Review, it will still continue with the existing six Boards and one 
Committee.
As Gosport Borough Council follows the ‘alternative arrangements’ process, it does not have Portfolio 
holders as Local Authorities following the Cabinet arrangements do. Gosport Borough Council Chairmen of 
Service Boards or Committees do not have the authority to make decisions outside of Board/Committee 
meetings.
The Council’s Constitution is clear on the main role of the Portfolio – Chairmen of Service Boards: 



Page | 9 

1. To lead the Council’s activities in relation to those functions covered by the Terms of Reference of 
the Board. 

2. To ensure that the Board deals with its functions in a fair and proper manner having regard to the 
Council’s policies and statutory provisions relating thereto including the rules of natural justice and 
human rights legislation. 

The schedule in the Council Constitution which outlines the duties and responsibilities of the Chairmen of 
Service Boards can be found here.

The Council’s Constitution is clear on the main role of the Portfolio – Chairmen of Standards and 
Governance Committee:

1. Lead the Council’s activities in relation to those functions covered by the Terms of Reference of the 
Standards and Governance Committee. 

2. Ensure that the Committee deals with its functions in a fair and proper manner having regard to the 
Council’s policies and statutory provisions relating thereto, including the rules of natural justice.

The schedule in the Council Constitution which outlines the duties and responsibilities of the Chairmen of 
Standards and Governance Committee can be found here.

Gosport Borough Council believes that the Standards and Governance Committee is the ‘conscience of the 
Authority’ and this is reflected within the Council Constitution and the terms of reference for this Committee 
as outlined above.

Key lines of 
explanation

 What responsibilities will be delegated to officers or committees?
 How many councillors will be involved in taking major decisions?

Delegated 
Responsibilities

Analysis

Gosport Borough Council operates an extensive scheme of delegation to officers which are contained 
within the Council’s Constitution, can be viewed at the following link:
https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/2713/Part-3-Schedule-10-Scheme-of-
Delegations/pdf/Part_3_Schedule_10_Scheme_of_Delegations.pdf?m=637312057782370000

The Full Council has six scheduled meetings per year. All minutes from Service Boards are included in the 
agenda at each Council meeting for all Elected Members, and there is a standing agenda item of ‘Member 
Questions’ for Elected Members to submit questions of either The Leader or a Chairmen of a Service Board 
to answer at the Full Council meeting.

https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/2708/Part-2-Schedule-6-Chairmen-of-Service-Boards/pdf/Part_2_Schedule_6_Chairmen_of_Service_Boards.pdf?m=637312057771500000
https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/2709/Part-2-Schedule-7/pdf/Part_2_Schedule_7.pdf?m=637312057772870000
https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/2713/Part-3-Schedule-10-Scheme-of-Delegations/pdf/Part_3_Schedule_10_Scheme_of_Delegations.pdf?m=637312057782370000
https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/2713/Part-3-Schedule-10-Scheme-of-Delegations/pdf/Part_3_Schedule_10_Scheme_of_Delegations.pdf?m=637312057782370000


Page | 10 

Accountability

8. Give the Commission details as to how the authority and its decision makers and partners will be held to account. The Commission is 
interested in both the internal and external dimensions of this role.

Topic

Internal Scrutiny
The scrutiny function of authorities has changed considerably. Some use theme or task-and-finish groups, for 
example, and others have a committee system. Scrutiny arrangements may also be affected by the officer 
support available.

Key lines of explanation

 How will decision makers be held to account? 
 How many committees will be required? And what will their functions be? 
 How many task and finish groups will there be? And what will their functions be? What time commitment 

will be involved for members? And how often will meetings take place?
 How many members will be required to fulfil these positions?
 Explain why you have increased, decreased, or not changed the number of scrutiny committees in the 

authority.
 Explain the reasoning behind the number of members per committee in terms of adding value.

Analysis

Gosport operates its scrutiny function through the formation of ‘Task and Finish’ Groups. The purpose of Task 
and Finish Groups at Gosport Borough Council are:

1. A Task and Finish Group should only be appointed by the Service Board to carry out a short sharply-
focused piece of work on the development and review of policies and initiatives of matters falling within 
the terms of reference of the Service Board. 

2. Task and Finish Groups should not be set up to consider individual complaints or to consider planning 
applications or licensing applications.

The procedure for Task and Finish Groups is contained with the Council Constitution, and information relating 
to these Groups can be found here.

Task and Finish Groups do not have sub-board status and the political balance rules in Section 15 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 will not apply but they will, subject to the availability of Members, be 
established on a cross-party basis. Task and Finish Groups shall comprise of up to 5 Members of the Service 
Board. 

https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/2722/Part-4-Schedule-18a-Task-and-Finish-Groups/pdf/Part_4_Schedule_18a_Task_and_Finish_Groups.pdf?m=637312057794600000


Page | 11 

The Task and Finish Group may meet on as many occasions as it feels necessary to complete its work within 
the timescale set by the Service Board, and the terms of reference for the Task and Finish Group and the 
timescale for the completion of its work shall be agreed by the Service Board at the meeting at which the 
Service Board decides to set up the Task and Finish Group.
At the conclusion of their work, the Task and Finish Group shall prepare a written report including 
recommendations which shall be considered by the Service Board.

The Borough Council is not expecting to change this process following the implementation of this Electoral 
Review, as it feels that the use of Task and Finish Groups since their adoption and use at Gosport have 
provided and fulfilled the overview and scrutiny role of the Council by allowing Elected Members with an 
interest and knowledge in the specific subject matter to provide this function.



Page | 12 

Statutory Function
This includes planning, licencing and any other regulatory responsibilities. Consider under each of the 
headings the extent to which decisions will be delegated to officers. How many members will be required to 
fulfil the statutory requirements of the council?

Key lines of 
explanation

 What proportion of planning applications will be determined by members?
 Has this changed in the last few years? And are further changes anticipated?
 Will there be area planning committees? Or a single council-wide committee?
 Will executive members serve on the planning committees?
 What will be the time commitment to the planning committee for members?

Planning

Analysis

The Council has a single Regulatory Board, currently comprising 15 Councillors. The Committee meets 
monthly to consider those applications not determined by the Development Manager under delegated powers. 
The number of planning applications received and included in the returns to Central Government for the last 
three financial years are:

Year 
(financial)

Total Apps 
Determined

Number Apps 
 by Delegated 
Decision

% by 
Delegated 
Decision

Number Apps 
Decided by 
Regulatory 
Board

% Decided by 
Regulatory 
Board

2017/2018 313 269 86% 44 14%

2018/2019 300 261 87% 39 13%

2019/2020 302 277 92% 25 8%

Following the implementation of this Electoral Review, the Borough Council is considering reducing the 
membership of the Regulatory Board from 15 Councillors to 12 Councillors, to reflect the reduction in numbers 
of overall Elected Members. However, the Borough Council believes that a reduction in membership of the 
Board would still ensure that the Regulatory Board retained a good geographical spread of Members from 
across the Council area.

The Borough Council also believes that members of the Regulatory Board spend a greater time spent on 
preparing for and attending formal meetings. Being a Regulatory Board Member involves significant 



Page | 13 

preparation to ensure familiarity with the applications due to be considered. The greater time spent by 
Councillors who are members of the Regulatory Board can also be seen by the fact that Regulatory Board 
meets at least eight times in the municipal year, compared with five times a year for the other Service Board 
and Committee.

Key lines of 
explanation

 How many licencing panels will the council have in the average year?
 And what will be the time commitment for members?
 Will there be standing licencing panels, or will they be ad-hoc?
 Will there be core members and regular attendees, or will different members serve on them?

Licensing

Analysis

Following the last review of the Council structures and governance, the Licensing Board functions were  
included within the Terms of Reference  of the Regulatory Board of Gosport Borough Council.

The Borough Council Constitution includes a Licensing (General Applications) Sub-board, composed of 5 
members of the Regulatory Board to deal with:

1. The determination of applications for the licensing of money lenders, pawnbrokers, scrap metal dealers, 
sex establishments and premises for ear-piercing, acupuncture, tattooing and electrolysis. 

2. The administration of any dog licensing or registration schemes including the determination of 
applications for licensing and registration and all other matters relating to the general control of dogs 
and other animals. 

3. The function of licensing and prosecuting authority under the Caravan Sites and Control of 
Development Act 1960. 

4. The control of street and house-to-house collections. 
5. The determination of applications in respect of Hackney Carriages, Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles. 
6. The determination of applications in respect of Street Trading. 
7. Any other licences, permits or consents for which the Council has a general or specific responsibility 

under any general or local Act. 
8. The administration of the registration scheme under the Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001.

The Council Constitution also includes a Licensing Sub-Board, composed of 3 members of the Regulatory 
Board to deal with:
LICENSING ACT 2003 

1. The determination of applications where representations or a police objection is received or where the 
applicant for a personal licence has unspent convictions. 

2. The determination of applications to renew a premises licence or a club premises certificate. 



Page | 14 

3. The determination of a police objection to a temporary event notice. 
4. Where the Council is a consultee to decide whether or not to object to an application made to another 

Licensing Authority under the Licensing Act 2003.

GAMBLING ACT 2005 
1. The determination of applications where representations have been received and not withdrawn. 
2. The determination of applications for the grant or variation or transfer of a premises licence 
3. The determination of applications for the review of a premises licence. 
4. The determination of an application for club gaming/club machine permits. 
5. The determination of a police objection to a temporary use notice.

Key lines of 
explanation

 What will they be, and how many members will they require?
 Explain the number and membership of your Regulatory Committees with respect to greater delegation to 

officers.

Other 
Regulatory 

Bodies Analysis

Within our terms of reference for the Standards and Governance Committee, the Borough Council has an 
Initial Filtering Panel of 3 members who must be members of the Standards and Governance Committee, 
responsible for the determination of allegations of failure to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct, in 
accordance with the Council’s arrangements for dealing with such allegations.
 The Panel has no scheduled meetings for this year, but would be formed if required to determine any 
allegations submitted to the Council’s Monitoring Officer. It is not anticipated that the membership or role of 
this Panel will change following the implementation of this Electoral Review.



Page | 15 

External Partnerships Service delivery has changed for councils over time, and many authorities now have a range of delivery 
partners to work with and hold to account. 

Key lines of explanation

 Will council members serve on decision-making partnerships, sub-regional, regional or national bodies? In 
doing so, are they able to take decisions/make commitments on behalf of the council?

 How many councillors will be involved in this activity? And what is their expected workload? What 
proportion of this work is undertaken by portfolio holders?

 What other external bodies will members be involved in? And what is the anticipated workload?

Analysis

There are a number of organisations which are independent from the Council, but have an impact on its 
service areas and its residents. In order that the Council can maintain effective partnerships with these 
organisations and partners, representatives of the Council, usually Elected Members, sit on the various 
committees and forums established in partnership with these organisations which are active within the 
Borough of Gosport.
 
The Full Council at its first meeting each year, approves appointments to these outside bodies. The full list of 
outside bodies are available to view on the Council’s website at the following link:
https://democracy.gosport.gov.uk/mgListOutsideBodies.aspx?bcr=1

The Council also has ‘The Gosport Task Force’. This group meets quarterly and is chaired by the Member of 
Parliament for Gosport, but is composed of many organisations that have an interest within the Borough 
Council footprint.
This group’s membership is pulled from the following organisations: Ministry of Defence, HMS Sultan, Ministry 
of Justice, Defence Infrastructure Organisation, Oil and Pipelines Agency, Solent Local Enterprise Partnership, 
Hampshire County Council and the Queens Harbour Master. Participants from the Borough Council are The 
Leader of the Council, the Chief Executive and the Assistant to the Chief Executive, as well as Officers invited 
to attend meetings as required by the agenda and discussions.

https://democracy.gosport.gov.uk/mgListOutsideBodies.aspx?bcr=1


Page | 16 

Community Involvement
9. The Commission understands that there is no single approach to community leadership and that members represent, and provide leadership 

to, their communities in different ways. The Commission wants to know how members are required to provide effective community leadership 
and what support the council offers them in this role. For example, does the authority have a defined role and performance system for its 
elected members? And what support networks are available within the council to help members in their duties?

Topic Description

Key lines of 
explanation

 In general terms how do councillors carry out their representational role with electors? 
 Does the council have area committees and what are their powers? 
 How do councillors seek to engage with their constituents? Do they hold surgeries, send newsletters, hold 

public meetings or maintain blogs? 
 Are there any mechanisms in place that help councillors interact with young people, those not on the 

electoral register, and/or other minority groups and their representative bodies? 
 Are councillors expected to attend community meetings, such as parish or resident’s association meetings? 

If so, what is their level of involvement and what roles do they play?
 Explain your approach to the Area Governance structure. Is your Area Governance a decision-making forum 

or an advisory board? What is their relationship with locally elected members and Community bodies such 
as Town and Parish Councils? Looking forward how could they be improved to enhance decision-making?  

Community 
Leadership

Analysis

Gosport Borough Council operates in a two tier local government structure, with Hampshire County Council 
sitting above Gosport Borough Council as the upper tier authority. Currently four Borough Councillors are twin 
“hatted,” in that they are separately elected as representatives to both Hampshire County Council and Gosport 
Borough Council. 

In light of these governance arrangements, there is an increasing need to ensure that the electoral 
arrangements of Gosport are efficient, effective and aligned appropriately to best serve the local community. 

Hampshire County Council implemented the outcome of their own electoral review to coincide with their 2017 
elections, to better reflect the identities of communities across Hampshire, including Gosport Borough. It is 
therefore timely to build on these arrangements to align effectively and appropriately with the County and the 
Borough communities. 



Page | 17 

Most Councillors are proactively involved within their Electoral Wards as opposed to simply responding to case 
work and consider that they play an active part within their communities. The approach they take varies from 
member to member, but most Councillors are involved in some or all of the following: 

1. Holding surgeries – dealing with queries, providing advice and engaging with their constituents face-to-
face; 

2. Working with, and/or offering support, to community groups and local organisations; 
3. Maintaining websites and social media, both as individual Councillors or in partnership with their Electoral 

Ward colleague. 

Gosport does not have area committees and does not have any parishes within Borough.

The Council Constitution includes a schedule on the main duties of an Elected Member of the Borough Council, 
and it states:

 With all other Councillors to collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of strategic 
corporate management functions. 

 To represent effectively the interests of the Ward for which the Councillor was elected and all of its 
constituents. 

 To contribute in a positive manner to the effective government of the Borough, and the direct, or indirect, 
provision of services to all residents, visitors and other interested parties. 

 To encourage the involvement and participation of individual citizens and the community generally in the 
development and review of the Council’s decision making processes.

The schedule also includes lists of Elected Members’ ‘duties and responsibilities’ and ‘key tasks’.

This schedule of the constitution can he found here.

Key lines of 
explanation

 How do councillors deal with their casework? Do they pass it on to council officers? Or do they take a more 
in-depth approach to resolving issues? 

 What support do members receive? 
 How has technology influenced the way in which councillors work? And interact with their electorate? 
 In what ways does the council promote service users’ engagement/dispute resolution with service providers 

and managers rather than through councillors?

Casework

Analysis Councillors take accountability for their casework, and manage their work appropriately, albeit with officer 
support. Usually, Councillors will contact officers directly – whether in person, via telephone or e-mail, and then 

https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/2703/Part-2-Schedule-1/pdf/Part_2_Schedule_1.pdf?m=637312057763230000


Page | 18 

respond to their constituent. There is a sense of ownership and need to ensure the resident’s issue is 
satisfactorily resolved. 

Councillor responses to queries from their constituents can now be typed and sent electronically rather than in a 
written letter or phone call. All Gosport Councillors have been offered Apple iPads with access to their Gosport 
email accounts, and to partake in virtual Full Council, Board, Committee and Task & Finish Group meetings 
following the restrictions placed on holding ‘in person’ meetings due to the Covid-19 pandemic. The use of 
these devices and other IT equipment has made it easier to seek clarification on particular issues from Council 
officers, especially throughout the pandemic. 

In supporting the local government modernisation agenda and electronic working, the Council has recently 
implemented a new computer Management System for the Democratic Services team, Modern Government. 
This system is already helping to provide efficiency with Gosport’s support to Elected Members and the 
democratic processes of the Council generally. 

The use of this software system will continue to be utilised and expanded/increased following the 
implementation of this Electoral Review and will further support a new Council Size of 28 in fulfilling all Elected 
Members Community Involvement role. 

Gosport Council has an ‘Independent Members Remuneration Panel’ which meets to review the current 
Members’ Allowances scheme, which was introduced in July 2002 and reviewed in May 2011 and December 
2015. During the Panel’s last review in 2015, all Members of the Council were invited to complete a 
questionnaire, and the Panel invited Group Leaders, Chairmen of all the Council’s Service Boards and the 
Chairman of Standards and Governance Committee for interview. 

The Panel indicated that Councillors worked 87.25 days a year on Council related work, which included 
attendance at Council meetings and case work on behalf of their constituents.

The Council has a formal three stage complaints procedure and process. None of the three stages involve 
either a Panel of Elected Members or individual Councillors in either investigating or resolving the complaint.

The formal process and information on the Council Complaint process can be found here.
 

https://www.gosport.gov.uk/complaints


Page | 19 

Other Issues
10.Respondent may use this space to bring any other issues of relevance to the attention of the Commission. 

In July 2016, Full Council took to the decision to enter into a ‘shared management’ arrangement with Portsmouth City Council, due to significant 
financial challenges facing the Council at that time. From 01 October 2016, the three Chief Officers (Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive & 
Monitoring Officer and the Borough Treasurer) were redundant, and the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive and Borough Treasurer were 
appointed from equivalent post-holders at Portsmouth City Council.

Gosport has always been ‘open minded’ and ‘forward thinking’ with regard to working with local authority neighbours, and we have successful 
shared services across a number of Gosport services:

 Environmental Health – shared service between Gosport and Fareham Councils;
 Building Control – shared service initially between Gosport and Fareham Council, but also extended to include Portsmouth City Council;
 Portchester Crematorium - Portchester Crematorium was opened in 1958 and is situated on the lower slopes of Portsdown Hill between 

Fareham and Portsmouth. The Crematorium is controlled by a Joint Committee of Councillors representing the City of Portsmouth, the 
Boroughs of Fareham, Havant and Gosport but operates as an independent establishment with specialised administrative and technical 
support from the constituent local authorities.

 Coastal Partnership - The Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership (ESCP) formed an alliance in 2012 to deliver a combined, efficient and 
comprehensive coastal management service across the coastlines of four Local Authorities of Fareham Borough Council, Gosport 
Borough Council, Havant Borough Council and Portsmouth City Council.

 Project Integra - Project Integra is a partnership working to provide an integrated approach to the collection, treatment and disposal of 
municipal waste in Hampshire. The partnership includes all 11 district/borough authorities in within the County of Hampshire, Hampshire 
County Council, Portsmouth and Southampton City Councils and Veolia Hampshire (the integrated waste management contractor).

Throughout any shared services or shared management agreements, the Council has always been consistent in its approach, that the services 
to the Gosport residents must always been considered first and foremost as the priority.

Summary
11. In following this template respondents should have been able to provide the Commission with a robust and well-evidenced case for their 

proposed council size; one which gives a clear explanation as to the number of councillors required to represent the authority in the future. 
Use this space to summarise the proposals and indicate any other options considered. Explain why these alternatives were not appropriate in 



Page | 20 

terms of their ability to deliver effective Strategic Leadership, Accountability (Scrutiny, Regulation and Partnerships), and Community 
Leadership. 

In general terms, Gosport Borough Council has modernised significantly since the previous review concluded and was implemented in 2000, 
both from a governance perspective and also in relation to the way in which Councillors undertake their role in the community.

It is therefore considered that a Council Size of 28 is an appropriate and proportionate reduction (of 6) to ensure the Council is run efficiently and 
to support a balanced workload for Councillors in their community leadership roles. With the ‘alternative arrangements’ model, the Council 
believes that this provides the best democratic engagement of Councillors, and the newly established Service Boards structure allows Elected 
Members to still have the significant responsibility in the context of the day to day business, services and decisions of the Council. In considering 
the current Council Size of 34, Full Council concluded that [insert details of Full Council decision and conclusion]. .



T
his page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM NO.

Purpose

To seek approval from Members in regards to the updated draft Whistleblowing Policy 2020.

Recommendations

a. That the Policy and Organisation Board approve the updated draft whistleblowing 
Policy

1. Background & Purpose

1.1 The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 gives employees certain rights in relation to 
whistleblowing.  An employee has a right to make a protected disclosure to prescribed 
persons where the employee reasonably believes:

1.1.1 A criminal offence has, or is going to be committed;
1.1.2 There is a breach of a legal obligation;
1.1.3 A miscarriage of justice;
1.1.4 There is a danger to the health and safety of any individual;
1.1.5 There will be damage to the environment; or
1.1.6 There is deliberate concealment of information tending to show any of the 

above five matters.

1.2 The Act provides that employees shall suffer no detriment to their employment as a 
result of blowing the whistle, including disciplinary action.

1.3 The Policy applies to all Council staff, including employees, temporary workers, agency 
staff and any contractor remunerated by the Council.

2. Report

2.1 Appendix A is the draft Whistleblowing Policy 2020.

3. Conclusion

3.1 That the board approve the draft Whistleblowing Policy 2020.

Board/Committee: Policy and Organisation Board
Date of Meeting: 29th September 2020
Title: Updated Draft Whistleblowing Policy
Author: Chief Internal Auditor
Status: FOR APPROVAL

Agenda Item 7



Financial Services 
comments:

Nil

Legal Services comments: Nil
Crime and Disorder: Nil
Equality and Diversity: Nil
Service Improvement Plan 
implications:
Corporate Plan: It supports the Council in pursuit of excellence through 

delivering an effective and high quality governance evaluation 
and monitoring.

Risk Assessment: Not to take this action would have potential legal, governance, 
and risk management implications for the Council

Background papers: None
Appendices/Enclosures: Appendix A – Draft Whistleblowing Policy 2020

Report author/ Lead 
Officer:

Paul Somerset - Chief Internal Auditor



www.gosport.gov.uk
PolicyTemplate V1.0

Summary: 

This policy is for all Council staff, including employees, temporary workers, agency staff and 
people working for contractors and relates to how to raise genuine concerns of illegal, unethical or 
immoral conduct. 

ID Whistleblowing Policy

Last Review Date September 2020

Next Review Date September 2021

Approval Standards and Governance Committee

Policy Owner Chief Internal Auditor

Policy Author Chief Internal Auditor

Advice & 
Guidance Internal Audit or Monitoring Officer

Related 
Documents

Freedom of Information Act 2000 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/36/contents
Data Protection Act 1998
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/29/contents
General Data Protection Regulation
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-
general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/

Applicability Guidance for all staff, including employees, temporary workers, agency staff 
and people working for contractors. 

Whistleblowing Policy 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/36/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/29/contents
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/


2

www.gosport.gov.uk

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

[Whistleblowing – Draft]

Contents
1 Introduction ......................................................................................3
2 Scope of this policy .........................................................................3
3 Our assurances to you ....................................................................4
4 How to raise a concern....................................................................4
5 How we will handle the matter ........................................................5
6 Independent advice..........................................................................6
7 External contacts .............................................................................6
8 Administration..................................................................................6



3

www.gosport.gov.uk

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

[Whistleblowing – Draft]

1 Introduction

1.1 The Council is committed to achieving the highest possible standards of 
openness, probity and accountability in all of its practices. This policy is here to 
help you as an employee, to raise a concern you may have in the right way 
without fear. 

1.2 We all have, at times, had concerns about what is happening at work. Usually 
these concerns are easily resolved. However, when the concern is about illegal, 
unethical or immoral conduct i.e. malpractice; it can be difficult to know what to 
do. You may feel worried about raising an issue and decide to keep the concern 
to yourself, perhaps feeling that it is none of your business, only a suspicion or 
possibly a misunderstanding or interpretation. You may feel that raising the 
matter may be disloyal to colleagues, managers or the Council itself. Or 
perhaps you have tried to raise the matter, but found you have spoken to the 
wrong person or raised the issue in the wrong way and are not sure what to do 
next.

1.3 The Council would prefer you raise any concern about such malpractice when it 
is just a concern, rather than wait for proof. This policy aims to help you raise 
any concern about malpractice in the right way. It explains the routes open to all 
Council staff, including employees, temporary workers, agency staff and people 
working for contractors. This policy does not replace the Council’s complaints 
procedure, which is open to all members of the public.

2 Scope of this policy
2.1 This whistleblowing policy is primarily for a serious concern, which affects the 

interests of others, such as service users, the public, colleagues or the council 
itself. Concerns may include but are not limited to:

 Breach of the law or committing an offence
 Unauthorised or misappropriation of public funds
 Suspected fraudulent activities
 Approaches of bribery

2.2 If you want to bring a complaint or grievance that is about your employment or 
the way you have been treated, please use the Grievance Procedure. 

2.3 If your concern is regarding the actions of an elected Councillor, please contact 
the Chief Executive and or Monitoring Officer. The concern can still be 
managed under the whistleblowing policy.

However, if in doubt – please raise it!



4

www.gosport.gov.uk

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

[Whistleblowing – Draft]

3 Our assurances to you

Your safety

3.1   We recognise it may be difficult to raise a concern. 

3.2 If you raise a genuine concern under this policy you will not be at risk of losing 
your job or suffering any reprisal as a result. Provided that you raise the matter 
honestly, it does not matter if you are mistaken. Of course we do not extend 
this assurance to someone who maliciously raises a concern they know is 
untrue. Any such conduct may be liable to disciplinary action or other 
appropriate action.

3.3 If disciplinary action or redundancy procedures have already been started, 
raising a concern will not, in itself, halt them.

Your confidence 

3.4 We will not tolerate the harassment or victimisation of anyone raising a genuine 
concern. All conversations or referrals made under this policy remain 
confidential and you are able to request that your identity is not disclosed 
during any potential investigation. You should understand that there may be 
circumstances when we are unable to resolve a concern without revealing your 
identity (for instance where your personal evidence is essential) and in such 
cases we will discuss with you whether and how best we can proceed. In 
addition, there may also be situations where your identity is required to be 
disclosed by Law to the Police. 

Anonymity

3.5 Please remember that if you do not tell us who you are it may be more difficult 
for us to look into the matter, as further clarification may be needed in relation 
to the concerns raised. In addition we will not be able to protect your position 
and or be able to provide you with the same support and assurances if you 
report a concern anonymously. 

4 How to raise a concern

4.1 Please remember that you do not need to have firm evidence of malpractice 
before raising a concern.  However, we do ask that you explain as fully as you 
can the information or circumstances that gave rise to your concern.  
Remember the earlier you raise a concern the easier it is to resolve it. If you 
wish, you may be accompanied by a union or professional association 
representative or a friend.

Option One 



5

www.gosport.gov.uk

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

[Whistleblowing – Draft]

4.2 We hope that you will feel able to raise your concern openly with your manager. 
This may be done orally, or if you prefer, in writing.

Option Two 

4.3 If you feel unable to raise the matter with your manager for whatever reason, or 
if you think the concern has not been properly addressed, please raise it with a 
senior manager in your area or contact:

email: Whistleblowing@gosport.gov.uk

Or via post (marked Private & Confidential) to:

Internal Audit
Gosport Borough Council
Town Hall
High Street
Gosport
PO12 1EB

Or contact one of the following officers:

Paul Somerset, Chief Internal Auditor (0734 1888 927) email:
Paul.Somerset@gosport.gov.uk  

Paul Grant, Monitoring Officer & Borough Solicitor (07423 106303) email:
Paul.Grant@gosport.gov.uk 

These people have been given special responsibility and training in dealing with 
whistleblowing concerns. 

5 How we will handle the matter

5.1 Once you have raised your concern we will acknowledge that it has been 
received and confirm our understanding of the issues raised, to ensure that 
your concern is fully understood. 

5.2 Initial enquiries will then be made to decide whether an investigation is 
appropriate and, if so, what form it should take. All investigations undertaken 
within the Authority are directed by the ‘Investigations Steering Panel’ whose 
panel members include, Monitoring Officer (or deputy), Section 151 Officer (or 
deputy) and the Chief Internal Auditor. If deemed appropriate, the concern 
raised may be:

 Investigated by Audit or Management.
 Referred to the Police
 Referred to the External Auditor
 The subject of an independent inquiry
 A combination of the above

mailto:Whistleblowing@gosport.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.Somerset@gosport.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.Grant@gosport.gov.uk


6

www.gosport.gov.uk

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

[Whistleblowing – Draft]

5.3 While we cannot guarantee that we will respond to all matters in the way that 
you might wish, we will handle the matter fairly and properly. We will not be 
able to disclose specific details of how this will be achieved. We will however 
give you limited feedback on the outcome of any investigation.  Please note, 
that we will not be able to tell you about disciplinary or legal action, when it 
infringes a duty of confidence we owe to third parties.

5.4 Gosport Borough Council, in issuing this policy, is mindful of its responsibility 
under the Data Protection Act, GDPR and Freedom of Information Act.  These 
pieces of legislation impose an obligation on GBC to allow access to 
information held in relation to such investigations (subject to legal exemptions) 
whilst protecting the rights of individuals whom the data is about.

5.5 If you have any personal interest in the matter, we do ask that you tell us at the 
outset.  If we think your concern falls more properly within the Grievance 
Procedure, we will tell you.

5.6 If your concerns relates to one of the officers on the Investigation Steering 
Panel, they will be not be involved in any discussions regarding further action.

6 Independent advice

If you are unsure whether to use this policy or you want independent advice at any 
stage, free advice is available from:

 Your Trade Union, if applicable
 Protect, either by telephone on 020 3117 2510 or by email at whistle@protect-

advice.org.uk  

7 External contacts 

7.1 While we hope this policy gives you the reassurance you need to raise a 
concern internally, we recognise that there may be circumstances where you 
can properly report matters to outside bodies, such as the External Audit or 
other appropriate regulator, or in very serious situations, to the police.  

7.2 Protect, or if applicable, your union will be able to advise you on such an option 
and on the circumstances in which you may be able to contact an outside body 
safely. 

8 Administration

8.1 If you have any questions about the whistleblowing policy and how it applies, 
you can contact Internal Audit or the Borough Solicitor & Monitoring Officer who 
will be pleased to answer your questions.

mailto:whistle@protect-advice.org.uk%20
mailto:whistle@protect-advice.org.uk%20


7

www.gosport.gov.uk

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

[Whistleblowing – Draft]

8.2 The Chief Internal Auditor has overall responsibility for the maintenance and 
operation of this policy and will report to the Standards and Governance 
Committee annually on the application of this policy.  The Senior Auditor 
maintains a record of concerns raised and the outcomes (but in a form which 
does not endanger staff confidentiality).   

8.3 This policy will be reviewed annually by the Policy and Organisation Board. 



This page is intentionally left blank



GOSPORT BOROUGH COUNCIL

BOARD: COUNCIL

DATE OF MEETING: 29 SEPTEMBER 2020

TITLE: FEES AND CHARGES

AUTHOR: HEAD OF FINANCE

STATUS: FOR APPROVAL

Purpose

To consider and approve the amended Fees & Charges contained in this 
report and appendix.

Recommendation

That the Council approve the Fees and Charges referred to in the report and 
appendix for implementation from 1 January 2021 unless stated otherwise.

1.0 Background

1.1 Fees and Charges were last reviewed and updated at the Council 
meeting in October 2019.

2.0 Report

2.1 Fees and Charges are an important source of revenue that are largely 
within the Council’s control and reduce the burden falling on the 
General Fund and council tax payers.

2.2 A Fees and Charges review has been undertaken as part of the Budget 
process for 2021/22.  This review has taken place in the context of the 
Covid-19 emergency and the impact this has had on the Borough and, 
in particular, on its local businesses and economy.  

2.3 The proposed Fees and Charges are set out in the appendix to this 
report. The proposals have been guided by the following principles:

Agenda Item 8



2

 Those fees which are particularly business facing should be 
frozen at 2020 levels with no increases (e.g. for inflation). This 
proposal will impact fees associated with:

o Market Trading
o Taxi Licensing 
o Other forms of Licensing (such as premises licenses)

 A new (temporary) Pavement Licence has been introduced to 
allow the licence holder to place removable furniture over certain 
highways adjacent to the premises, the licence may remain in 
place for a year but not beyond 30 September 2021. This is a 
temporary measure to support businesses while social 
distancing measures remain in place.  

 We will remove entirely any fees for medical car-park permits for 
local GP surgeries as a gesture to recognise the important work 
that local NHS workers do in the Borough;

 Fees associated with use of Gosport Borough Council (GBC) 
sports pitches to also be frozen at 2020 levels given the lack of 
sports activity achieved in 2020 from March onwards and the 
reduced subscriptions that local sports clubs will have achieved;

 We will also freeze our waste charges associated with the 
removal of bulk waste and also the provision of wheeled bins, 
given many residents faced significant challenges in 2020 to 
dispose of waste material due to the lockdown; and

 All other charges we will increase in line with inflation, which is 
currently 2.6% RPI to March 2020.  The final exception is 
charges for CCTV footage requests (from Insurance 
organisations) where the charge should be £126 (including 
VAT).  The Fees book from last year showed a charge of £105, 
erroneously net of VAT rather than including VAT, which 
equates to £126.

2.4 The table below outlines an estimate of the financial impact of these 
proposals.  This is based on the charge levels that were approved in 
October 2019 for 2020 and what income was subsequently budgeted 
for this financial year.  Actual income levels for both the rest of 2020 
and 2021 could fluctuate materially as a consequence of other factors; 
notably following the Covid-19 lockdown.  Therefore, these estimates 
are a guide to what might happen and will be closely monitored if the 
proposals in this paper are agreed.



3

Fee & Charge Current 
charge

Proposed % 
changes

Proposed 
new charge

Potential 
impact 

FY2021/22
Market 
trading

As detailed 
in appendix

0% As detailed 
in appendix

£1000 loss 
of income 
by not 
applying 
RPI to 
current 
charge

Licensing As detailed 
in appendix

0% As detailed 
in appendix

Taxi 
Licences

As detailed 
in appendix

0% As detailed 
in appendix

£4000 loss 
of income 
by not 
applying 
RPI

Car-Park 
permits

Medical £10 Remove £0 £80 loss of 
income

Sports As detailed 
in appendix

0% As detailed 
in appendix

£500 loss of 
income by 
not applying 
RPI

Remove 1 
item £25

0% £25

Remove 2 
items £40

0% £40

Bulk Waste

Remove 3 to 
5 items £60

0% £60

Waste bins Replacement 
£30

0% £30

£550 loss of 
income by 
not applying 
RPI

2.5 The other charges detailed in the appendix will be increased by 
inflation, which is in line with our Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) planning assumptions.  The variations proposed above will 
cost the Council approximately £6k.  This additional pressure needs to 
be considered in the context of our existing Budget gap for FY2021/22, 
as set out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) of £570k per 
annum over the next three years.  

3.0 Risk Assessment



4

3.1 There is a risk to future service provision and the delivery of capital 
programme projects if the Council does not seek to maintain an 
appropriate level of income by reviewing its Fees and Charges.

4.0 Conclusion

4.1 Fees and Charges have been reviewed and the draft amended 
schedule is appended to this report. 

Financial Implications As set out in the report
Legal Implications The Council has power to 

charge for the services set out 
in this report.

Crime and Disorder N/A

Equality and Diversity N/A

Service Improvement Plan N/A

Corporate Plan: N/A
Risk Assessment: Section 3 of the report
Background papers: N/A
Climate Change No direct impact
Appendix Draft Fees and Charges booklet

Lead Officer Gary Morris 



1

GOSPORT
BOROUGH COUNCIL

Fees and Charges

2021

Fees and charges are effective from 1st January 2021 unless otherwise stated



2

INDEX Page(s)

Abandoned - Unwanted Vehicles / Shopping Trolleys 4

Allotments 4

Beach Huts 4

Building Regulations Applications 23

Car Parks 5

CCTV 11

Cemetery 6

Community Infrastructure Levy 22

Dog Control 7

Electoral Services 7

Environmental Health Services 8

Garages 8

Housing 8

Land Charges 9

Letting of Land 10-11

Licences and Registrations 12-15

Market 16

Pest Control 16

Planning Pre-Applications 21-22

Postal Naming & Numbering 22

Private Hire / Hackney Carriage 17

Public Conveniences 17

Publications 17

Refuse Collections 18

Sports 19

Stokes Bay Mobile Home Park 20

Street Trading Consent 13

Wildgrounds Nature Reserve 20



3

VAT FOREWORD

1 All charges include VAT where applicable. The VAT Code is per the list below.
S – Standard rate  
O – Non business  
E – Exempt
Z – Zero rated
The Standard Rated VAT charge changed from the 1st January 2011 to a rate of 20.0%. 

2 All charges are effective from 1st January 2021 unless otherwise stated

VAT -  LICENCES TO OCCUPY LAND; LETTING OF SPORTS FACILITIES

Exemption from VAT may be applicable under the following circumstances:

A Single lets
Each single let is for a continuous period of over 24 hours to the same person, the person to
whom they are let having exclusive control of the facilities throughout the let.

OR

B Series of Lets

All of the following criteria must be satisfied before exemption can apply:

The series consists of 10 or more individual sessions of the same sport or activity, each session
being in the same place, and the interval between each session is at least a day and not more
than 14 days

The series is to be paid for as a whole, and there is clear evidence of this, whether or not the right
to use the facility for any specific session is actually exercised, a formal agreement, exchange of
letters, or an invoice issued in advance requiring payment for the sessions specified on the
invoice would be sufficient evidence.

Refund for the non-availability of the facility by the Council would not invalidate this condition but
provision for a refund in other circumstances would; and the facilities are let out to a school, club,
association or organisation representing affiliated clubs or constituent associations; and the
person to whom the facilities are let has exclusive use of them during the sessions.

It is not necessary to book the same pitch to qualify for exemption, provided it is within the same
recreation ground. Any further bookings in addition to those specified in the formal agreement will
be standard-rated and subject to VAT.

VAT on Organised School Visits

The letting of facilities to a local education authority school falls within these rules of exemption
and is not outside the scope of VAT under the provisions of the Local Authorities (Goods and
Services) Act 1970.



4

ABANDONED / UNWANTED VEHICLES & SHOPPING TROLLEYS
£ VAT 

Removal of Unwanted Vehicles 90.00 S

Removal of Commercial Vehicles At Cost S

Removal of Caravans and Trailers 165.00 S

Storage of Unwanted Vehicle - per day 25.00 S

Statutory Charges for Abandoned Vehicles - Example
Removal of Abandoned Vehicle (Table 1 Regulation 4 - 2.2) 155.00 O
Storage of Abandoned Vehicle - per day  (Table 2 Regulation 5 - 2.2) 20.00 O

Fee type: Statutory - Removal, Storage & Disposal of Vehicle (Prescribed Sums & Charges) Regulations
2008 as amended.
A full schedule of charges for each different vehicle type can be found at the Office of Public Sector
Information Website www.opsi.gov.uk.

ABANDONED SHOPPING TROLLEYS (** indicates new fee structure)
£ VAT 

Charge for collection, return or disposal of Shopping Trolley ** 50.00 O
(total cost of £310 for collection, storage for 42 days and disposal / return of Trolley)

Daily storage of Shopping Trolley ** 5.00 O

ALLOTMENTS 2022 2021 VAT 
Fee Fee

£ £

Annual charge per square rod (1 square rod is 25.29 square metres) £6.50 £6.32 O
Annual charge per square metre £0.26 £0.25 O

Deposit (refundable) 50.00 50.00 O

BEACH HUT RENTAL - GOSPORT RESIDENTS ONLY
£ VAT 

Annual Charge Full Rate 920.00 S
Other Concessions (Over 60's) 690.00 S

Weekly Charge Disabled Residents only 20.00 S
One hut is available for weekly hire at Stokes Bay.

BEACH HUT SITE RENTAL - GOSPORT RESIDENTS ONLY

Annual Charge Full Rate 460.00 S
Other Concessions (Over 60's) 350.00 S

The site rental is for the last 3 remaining private beach huts at Lee on the Solent



5

CAR PARKS
£ VAT 

PAY AND DISPLAY CHARGES

Mumby Road (Bus Station)
Per hour 1.10 S
Over 5 hours (per day) 7.00 S

Trailers and Parking Permits (other than Medical Permits) are not allowed

Long Stay (Town Centre, Lee-on-Solent, Stokes Bay, Hardway Slipway and Alver Valley)
Per hour 1.00 S
Over 5 hours (per day) 6.00 S

Two Hour Car Parks (Town Centre and Lee-on-Solent)
30 Minutes (Coates Road Car Park only) 0.40 S
First hour 0.60 S
Up to 2 hours 1.00 S

Trailers and Parking Permits (other than Medical Permits) are not allowed

Three Hour Car Park (Lee-on-Solent)
Per hour Marine Parade No 1 & 2 1.00 S

Trailers (where permitted) - same charge as motor vehicle.

Coaches - per hour Only permitted in prescribed car parks 5.00 S

Motorcycles Free

Commercial Vehicles (over 3.5 tonnes GVW) parked in Mumby Road Lorry Park Free

Motor Homes (in Motor Homes bays)
Per hour 2.00 S
Per day 10.00 S

Parking Charge Notices Payment within 7days 50.00 N
Payment after 7 days 70.00 N

PERMITS

General Public
Annual Permit 490.00 S
6 Month Permit 290.00 S
3 Month Permit 150.00 S
1 Month Permit 50.00 S

Gosport & Lee Town Centre Residents Permits 85.00 S
Available only to residents living in specific areas of the town centres and for use in the specified
long stay car parks only

Medical (Local Surgeries) No Charge S

Leisure (includes Seafront and Alver Valley, excluding Motor Homes) 85.00 S
Leisure - Motor Homes 290.00 S

Notes
1. All drivers of vehicles with a trailer will be responsible for the payment of the trailer charge.



6

ANN'S HILL CEMETERY
£ VAT 

EXCLUSIVE RIGHTS OF BURIAL IN EARTHEN GRAVES** - GOSPORT RESIDENT

Provision of new grave (Post 01/04/1992) - obligatory 720.00 O
Interment into Existing Site (Pre 01/04/1992) - obligatory 155.00 O
Provision of a Cremated Remains Plot (Post 01/04/1992) - obligatory 155.00 O
Provision of Grave for child No Charge

INTERMENTS

The fees for interment include the digging of the grave to a depth
sufficient for two interments and re-turfing after burial.

For the Interment
(i) of the body of a still born child, or of a child whose age at the time of death No Charge
did not exceed 16 years

(ii) of the body of a person whose age at the time of death exceeded 16 years 565.00 O

For any interment in a walled grave or vault At Cost O

Interment - Cremated Remains 180.00 O
(subject to depth not exceeding 91.4cm (3ft) otherwise normal
interment charge will apply, no charge for a child)

MONUMENTS, GRAVESTONES, TABLETS AND MONUMENTAL INSCRIPTIONS

For the right to erect or place on a grave or vault a headstone not exceeding 91.4cm (3ft) in height 
by 91.4cm (3ft) in width by 30.4cm (1ft) in depth or 76.2cm (2ft 6in) x 60.9cm (2ft) x 30.4cm (1ft)

Adult 155.00 O
Child No Charge

For the right to erect or place on a grave or vault in respect of which the exclusive
right of burial has been granted - kerbstones or flatstones

(a) enclosing a space not exceeding 2.1m by 91.4cm (7ft by 3ft) 185.00 O
(b) enclosing a space not exceeding 2.1m by 1.8m (7ft by 6ft) 360.00 O
(c) tablets not exceeding 350mm x 450mm x 25mm 45.00 O

The fees indicated in this section include the first inscription.
For each inscription after the first a fee is payable 30.00 O

Annual Maintenance
Trimming Grass 70.00 O
Planting and Trimming Grass 90.00 O
Planting (Spring and Summer only) 80.00 O

Miscellaneous Items
Transfer of Grant of Right 82.00 O
Temporary Marker 31.00 O
Search in Burial Register (per burial entry) 10.00 O
Certificate of Burial 19.00 O
Use of Chapel 115.00 O
Exhumations At Cost S

Notes
** The fees indicated above include the Deed of Grant and all the expenses thereof



7

Non-resident fees on application
Imperial to metric conversions are approximate
DOG CONTROL

£ VAT 

Collection of stray dog - Statutory charge per dog 25.00 O
Kennelling fees up to 7 days 115.00 O
Microchipping of dogs per dog 10.00 S

each additional dog at the same address 5.00 S
Private home check visit 33.00 S
Dog Bags per packet of 60 3.00 S

Notes

1. Statutory charge is as per the 'Environmental Protection (Stray Dog) Regulations 1992'
and is payable before the dog is released.
2. Additional fees may be charged for costs incurred by the Council including legal fees
incurred due to non-payment.

ELECTORAL SERVICES

REGISTRATION OF ELECTORS (STATUTORY)

Item Data Printed

Sale of Open/Edited
Register

£20 plus £1.50 per
thousand entries (or part)

£10 plus £5.00 per thousand
entries (or part)

Z

Sale of Full Register*
£20 plus £1.50 per
thousand entries (or part)

£10 plus £5.00 per thousand
entries (or part)

Z

Sale of monthly
update notices*

£20 plus £1.50 per
thousand entries (or part)

£10 plus £5.00 per thousand
entries (or part)

Z

Sale of list of
Overseas Electors

£20 plus £1.50 per
hundred entries (or part)

£10 plus £5.00 per hundred
entries (or part)

Z

Sale of Marked
Register*

Where available
£10 plus £1.00 per
thousand entries (or part)

£10 plus £2.00 per thousand
entries (or part)

Z

Notes:
1.  Supply of the Full Register, monthly update notices and the marked register is restricted by the
Representation of the People Regulations.

2.  Packing and carriage costs will also apply where relevant.
3.  A request for the same part of the register in both printed and data form will be treated as two separate
requests.

Election Staff Fees
Returning Officer's fees and disbursements, Polling Station staff and Count Staff: as determined by
Hampshire Election Fees Working Party; available on request from the Head of Electoral Services.



8

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SERVICES
£ VAT 

Food Premises Register
Single Entry 2.25 S
Single Premises category, e.g. butchers 55.00 S
Whole Register 235.00 S
Export Certificate Fee 50.00 S

LAPC/IPPC Register enquiries (authorised industrial processes) 42.00 O

Immigration Service Assessment of Premises Condition 85.00 S

House in Multiple Occupation Licence Fee on Fee on grant
Application of Licence

5 persons 520.00 300.00 820.00 O
6-10 persons 680.00 350.00 1,030.00 O

11-15 persons 830.00 400.00 1,230.00 O
16-20 persons 940.00 500.00 1,440.00 O

Over 20 persons 1,000.00 640.00 1,640.00 O

Housing Act 2004 Notices Actual cost
Private Water Supplies work Actual cost

GARAGES
£ VAT 

Existing garages Per week Housing Report 2021 O #
New garages Per week Housing Report 2021 O #
# above charges are for Council tenants - if garage is let to private client then vat is chargeable 

Notes
Charges to be reviewed as part of the Council budget in January / February 2021

HOUSING
£ VAT 

Copy of highlighted plans, dwelling account enquiries, prospective private purchaser 70.00 O
enquiries (Solicitor, mortgage lender and/or owner occupier of former Council property)

Prior/Retrospective permissions for alterations    30.00 O
(Solicitor, and/or owner occupier of former Council property)

Notice of Sublet of leasehold property 17.00 O
(Solicitor, and/or owner occupier of former Council property)

Registration of Notice of Transfer Assignment underlease  6.00 O
Notice of Charge (charges as stated in lease) 28.00 O

Rent Account/debt reference   29.00 O
(Mortgage provider/Loan companies)

Replacement dwelling keys to communal entrances  9.00 S
(residents of the block of flats only – no third parties)



9

LAND CHARGES
£ VAT 

For searches sent electronically via Email, our online application or through the NLIS Hub

Con29R 130.00 S
LLC1 28.00 O
Basic Search Fee (Con29R plus LLC1) 158.00

For searches sent in paper form via DX or post

Con29R 155.00 S
LLC1 32.00 O
Basic Search Fee (Con29R plus LLC1) 187.00

Extra parcel fee LLC1 only 2.00 O
Extra parcel fee Con29R 12.00 S

Part 2 optional enquiries 9.00 S
Additional enquiries 9.00 S
For a search in any individual part of the Register
In Parts 1,2,3,4 and 10 5.00 O
In all other parts 2.00 O

Personal Searches Free

Notes
The above are currently the maximum charges that will be collected. In accordance with the relevant
Regulations, the charges are based on cost recovery and will be reviewed throughout the year. They may
therefore increase or decrease as time spent on them and search volumes fluctuate.

HMRC determined that from 1st January 2017 the fee charged for CON29 enquiries, Part 2 optional enquiries
and additional enquiries are subject to VAT at the standard rate.



10

LETTING OF LAND

£ VAT £ £ VAT 
USE OF COUNCIL LEISURE LAND

Damage Land Hire Land Hire
For events up to 2,500 persons - per day Deposit Deposit Per day

Commercial (note 1) 680.00 O 167.00 680.00 E
Not For Profit (note 7) 125.00 O 0.00 0.00 E

For events above 2,500 persons - per day

Commercial (note 1) 1,350.00 O 333.00 1,350.00 E
Not For Profit (note 7) 250.00 O 0.00 0.00

Temporary Demountable Structures (TDS) 

Where a Temporary Demountable Structure is used, the following Building Control fees are payable

Commercial Professional Circuses 110.00 S
Other commercial events with TDS over 15m square 270.00 S

Not for Profit No charge

Camping per night
Caravan/Motor home 11.00 S
Tent 6.00 S

Trailer (with Boat) 5.00 S

Notes
1. Price includes access to water. Electricity is available on request at a number of locations.
2. Damage deposits are refundable after any works and land reinstatement costs incurred by the Council
    have been deducted.
3. Other relevant sites by negotiation with the Projects Officer
4. Charges for casual lettings of land are generally exempt from VAT unless a specific option to tax has
    been exercised on the land in question. In the latter case, where the letting is for charitable purposes
    VAT would not apply.
5. Hirers of 2 days or more will be granted (if required) set-up and breakdown days of 1 day
    for each day hired.
6. Bookings will be taken between 1st April and 31st October subject to land conditions, 
    for enquires outside of these dates contact the Projects Officer
7. Not For Profit Hiring - No hire fee or Building Control Inspection Fee (for temporary demountable
    structures) is payable except, where appropriate, for costs incurred by the Council and for a Damage
    Deposit. The event organiser must enter into a licence agreement with the Council for the use of
    the land and comply with the qualifying conditions below prior to the event.

To qualify:

Registered Charities

The charity must be registered with the charity commission. The event to take place on council land must be
organised by the trustees of the registered charity for the sole purpose of raising funds for its charitable
purposes.  The council may require a letter from the trustees to confirm this arrangement.



11

Charitable Event 

The event must be operated on a not for profit basis, with any profit distributed to a registered charity; or
organisation set up for charitable or community purposes. The council at its absolute discretion shall decide
whether an organisation is set up for charitable or community purposes and its decision is final.

The entire “proceeds*” from the event, less any “reasonable costs**” incurred in delivering the event, shall be
donated to the nominated charity/ies or community organisation(s).

The event organiser shall no later than 28 days after the event provide a basic set of accounts, and
supporting documentation, to the council clearly identifying income, expenditure and profit distribution. 

The council reserves the right to require the event organiser to pay the commercial fee for the use of the land
should they breach one or more of the conditions and the right to refuse the hire of council land for any further
events.

*“Proceeds” include monies from ticket sales, liquor and concession fees, sponsorship, collections and any
other income however generated

**“Reasonable costs” include fencing the land, SIA personnel, performance licences, premise licence
requirements, health and safety requirements and other services/expenditure essential for the event to go
ahead.

USE OF TOWN CENTRE/RETAIL AREAS
£ VAT 

For promotional and public entertainment activities in Gosport High Street
Commercial/promotional activities Per metre (minimum 5 metres charge applies) 8.00
Non-Commercial activities Per metre (minimum 5 metres charge applies) 3.00

USE OF COUNCIL OWNED LAND FOR FILMING

Commercial activities (where an income or a benefit is obtained) Per day 155.00 E
Non-Commercial activities (including promoting the Borough) No Charge

CCTV

Insurance related CCTV footage request 126.00 S



12

LICENCES AND REGISTRATIONS
£ VAT 

Animal Licences and Fees - (** indicates new fee structure following changes in legislation Nov 2018)

Dangerous Wild Animals Registration (Note 1) 140.00 O

Hiring out Horses **
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 210.00 O
Grant of Licence 50.00 O
Variation Application (Note 1) 80.00 O
Grant of Variation to Licence 25.00 O

Dog/Cat Boarding (Kennels/Catteries) **
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 200.00 O
Grant of Licence 50.00 O
Variation Application (Note 1) 75.00 O
Grant 25.00 O

Home Boarding Dogs **
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 75.00 O
Grant of Licence 40.00 O

Home Boarding Fee Franchise (Including Day Care for Dogs) **
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 120.00 O
Grant of Licence 60.00 O
Additional Dog Boarding Franchise property applied for 75.00 O

Selling Animals as Pets **
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 160.00 O
Grant of Licence 50.00 O

Keeping or Training Animals for Exhibition **
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 160.00 O
Grant of Licence 50.00 O

Dog Breeders Licence (Note 1) 180.00 O

Zoo Licence On Request

Notes
1. Plus any Veterinarian Inspection costs



13

Other Licences and Registrations

Scrap Metal Dealer
New 250.00 O
Renewal/Variation 140.00 O
Certified Copy 12.00 O

Scrap Metal Mobile Collector
New/Variation 140.00 O
Renewal 100.00 O
Replacement Licence 22.00 O

Sex Establishment
New 3,000.00 O
Renewal 2,000.00 O
Transfer 2,000.00 O

Skin Piercers, Tattooing, Acupuncture, Electrolysis
Premises 90.00 O
Person 75.00 O

Street Trading Consents - Licenced under statutory obligation

Annual Consent 7 Days/week Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 1,210.00 O
Non-Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 860.00 O

Up to 3 Days/week Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 615.00 O
Non-Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 450.00 O

1 Day/week Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 345.00 O
Non-Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 305.00 O

Six Month Consent 7 days/week Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 630.00 O
Non-Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 445.00 O

Daily Consent Per 30cm (1ft) 2.65 O
Minimum charge 4.6m (15ft)

Tables and Chairs
New 290.00 O
Renewal 180.00 O

Pavement Licence (Business & Planning Act 2020, licence valid to Sept 2021) 25.00 O

Street Collections No Charge
House to House Collections No Charge
Caravan Site Licence No Charge

LICENSING ACT 2003 AND GAMBLING ACT 2005 PUBLIC REGISTERS
£ VAT 

Single Entry copy of a Premises Licence 6.00 O
Single Copy of an Application Form for a Premises Licence 16.00 O
Single Premises Category (eg Takeaways) 75.00 O
Whole Register of each single Act, e.g. Licensing Act 2003 235.00 O



14

LICENSING ACT 2003 (STATUTORY FEES)
£ VAT 

Premises / Club Applications / Variations

The fees are based on rateable values of properties

Rateable Value Band Initial Licence Fee Annual Fee

£0 - £4,300 A 100.00 70.00 O
£4,301 - £33,000 B 190.00 180.00 O
£33,001 - £87,000 C 315.00 295.00 O
£87,001 - £125,000 D 450.00 320.00 O
£125,001 and over E 635.00 350.00 O

A multiplier is applied to premises in Bands D and E where they are used exclusively or primarily
for the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises

Rateable Value Band Initial Licence Fee Annual Fee

£87,001 - £125,000 D 900.00 640.00 O
£125,001 and over E 1,905.00 1050.00 O

There are additional fees for premises licence applications, and the annual fee for exceptionally large
scale events (5,000+), unless certain conditions apply. Please consult the Licensing Department.

Personal Licences, Temporary Events and Other Fees (Statutory)

Application for the grant or renewal of a personal licence 37.00 O
Temporary event notice 21.00 O
Replacement of stolen, lost, etc. licence or summary 10.50 O
Application for a provisional statement where premises being built etc. 315.00 O
Notification of change of name or address 10.50 O
Application to vary licence to specify individual as premises supervisor 23.00 O
Application for transfer of premises licence 23.00 O
Interim authority notice following death etc. of licence holder 23.00 O
Replacement of stolen, lost, etc., certificate or summary 10.50 O
Notification of change of name or alteration of rules of club 10.50 O
Change of relevant registered address of club 10.50 O
Replacement of stolen, lost, etc., Temporary Event Notice 10.50 O
Replacement of stolen, lost, etc., Personal Licence 10.50 O
Notification change of name or address 10.50 O
Right of freeholder to be notified of licensing matters 21.00 O
Minor Variations 89.00 O



15

GAMBLING ACT 2005 (STATUTORY FEES) VAT 

PREMISES LICENCES New Annual Re-
Application Fee Variation Transfer Instatement

£ £ £ £ £
Existing Casinos N/A N/A 2,000.00 1,350.00 1,350.00 O
New Small Casino 8,000.00 5,000.00 4,000.00 1,800.00 1,800.00 O
New Large Casino 10,000.00 10,000.00 5,000.00 2,150.00 2,150.00 O
Regional Casino 15,000.00 15,000.00 7,500.00 6,500.00 6,500.00 O
Bingo Club 3,500.00 1,000.00 1,750.00 1,200.00 1,200.00 O
Betting Premises (exc tracks) 3,000.00 600.00 1,500.00 1,200.00 1,200.00 O
Tracks 2,500.00 1,000.00 1,250.00 950.00 950.00 O
Family Entertainment
Centres

2,000.00 750.00 1,000.00 950.00 950.00 O
Adult Gaming
Centres

2,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,200.00 1,200.00 O

Application for Licence Application
Provisional (provisional Copy Notification
Statement Statement holders) Licence of Change

£ £ £ £
Existing Casinos N/A N/A 25.00 50.00 O
New Small Casino 8,000.00 3,000.00 25.00 50.00 O
New Large Casino 10,000.00 5,000.00 25.00 50.00 O
Regional Casino 15,000.00 8,000.00 25.00 50.00 O
Bingo Club 3,500.00 1,200.00 25.00 50.00 O
Betting Premises (exc tracks) 3,000.00 1,200.00 25.00 50.00 O
Tracks 2,500.00 950.00 25.00 50.00 O
Family Entertainment Centres 2,000.00 950.00 25.00 50.00 O
Adult Gaming Centres 2,000.00 1,200.00 25.00 50.00 O

PERMITS
Application Transitional Renewal Annual

Fee Application Fee Fee Fee
£ £ £ £

Family Entertainment Centre - 
Gaming Machine 300.00 100.00 300.00 N/A O
Prize Gaming 300.00 100.00 300.00 N/A O
Alcohol Licenced Premises - 
  notification of 2 or less machines 50.00 N/A N/A N/A O
Alcohol Licenced Premises - 
  notification of more than 2 machines 150.00 100.00 N/A 50.00 O
Club Gaming Permit 200.00 100.00 200.00 50.00 O
Club Gaming Machine Permit 200.00 100.00 200.00 50.00 O
Club Fast-Track for Gaming Permit or
Gaming Machine Permit 100.00 100.00 100.00 50.00 O
Small Society Lottery Registration 40.00 N/A N/A 20.00 O

Change of Name Copy of Permit Variation Transfer
£ £ £ £

Family Entertainment Centre Permits 25.00 15.00 N/A N/A O
Prize Gaming Permits 25.00 15.00 N/A N/A O
Alcohol Licenced Premises -
  notification of 2 or less machines N/A N/A N/A N/A O
Alcohol Licenced Premises - 
  notification of more than 2 machines 25.00 15.00 100.00 25.00 O
Club Gaming Permit N/A 15.00 100.00 N/A O



16

Club Gaming Machine Permit N/A 15.00 100.00 N/A O
Small Society Lottery Registration N/A N/A N/A N/A O

MARKETS
£ VAT 

Frontage

Gosport Market Tuesday Per 30cm (1ft) 1.00 O
Minimum charge 4.6m (15ft)

Gosport Market Saturday Up to 10ft 20.00 O
3m (10ft) pitch 27.50 O

Up to 4.6m (15ft) pitch 32.50 O
Up to 6m (20ft) pitch 41.50 O
Up to 9.1m (30ft) pitch 55.00 O
Up to 12.2m (40ft) pitch 65.00 O
Up to 60ft 90.00

60ft+ Price on application

A 20% upwards tolerance in length is permitted Saturdays

Speciality Markets Per 30cm (1ft) 1.00 O
Minimum 3m (10ft) pitch

(inc. Craft, Food & Drink, Farmer's Markets, Christmas Markets)

Notes
Imperial to metric conversions are approximate

PEST CONTROL
Concession £ VAT 

DOMESTIC PREMISES

Fleas, Bedbugs plus unknown infestations, to visit and quote No charge 35.00 S

All Other Insects (including wasps) No charge 75.00 S

Rodent treatment No charge 65.00 S

Concessions:
Persons on low income, defined as being in receipt of one of the following 

Income-based Jobseeker's Allowance
Income-related Employment and Support Allowance
Income Support
Pension Credit (Guarantee)
Universal Credit (maximum award)

NB - Officers must be shown documentary evidence of entitlement by at least one member of household

PEST CONTROL: COMMERCIAL PREMISES

Rodents and insects for up to the first 15 minutes 85.00 S
Charge for each additional 15 minutes or part thereof 18.00 S

Notes

1. Charges include cost of materials and all rates quoted include VAT
2. Payment to be made at time of booking or prior to treatment
3. That no responsibility can be accepted for any loss or damage, however caused,
through treatment being carried out.



17

4. Invoices are not as a general rule issued, but when issued there is a 15% administrative
charge in addition to the above charges.

PRIVATE HIRE / HACKNEY CARRIAGE 
£ VAT 

Hackney Carriage Knowledge Test 23.00 O

Private Hire  Operator - 1 Year Licence 270.00 O
Operator - 3 Year Licence [Note 1] 650.00 O
Operator - 5 Year Licence [Note 1] 1,100.00 O
Vehicle 275.00 O
Driver - 1 Year Licence 100.00 O
Driver - 3 Year Licence 240.00 O

Hackney Carriage  Vehicle 275.00 O
Driver - 1 Year Licence 100.00 O
Driver - 3 Year Licence 240.00 O

Private Hire & Hackney Carriage driver (both licences) 140.00 O
Private Hire & Hackney Driver - 3 Year Licence 350.00 O
Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency check 6.00 O
(annual licence holders to coincide with triennial criminal record check) [Note 2]

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver's 2nd Licence 37.00 O
Criminal record check - paid to GBC [Note 2] 44.00 O

Issue of a replacement Hackney Carriage or Private Hire:
Driver's Photo Badge 18.00 O
Vehicle Windscreen Badge 23.00 O
Vehicle External Plate 23.00 O

Notes

1. Following new legislation effective from 01 October 2015. Changes to taxi fees have to be advertised and any
responses considered.
2. Amount charged by the external agency to the Council, and may be subject to revision during the year.

PUBLIC CONVENIENCES
£ VAT 

Radar Key For disabled public conveniences 5.00 O

PUBLICATIONS
£ VAT 

Statement of Accounts 20.00 Z
Budget Book 20.00 Z



18

REFUSE COLLECTIONS
£ VAT 

Special Collections
Collection, loading and disposal (per hour) **
** To be negotiated by the Council with the contractor (plus administration costs)

Domestic Clinical Waste Collection Provide and disposal of yellow bags No charge
Provide 'Sharps' and disposal 4 litre capacity No charge

7 litre capacity No charge

Removal of Bulk Refuse 1 Item 25.00 O
2 Items 40.00 O
3 to 5 Items 60.00 O
Residents receiving benefit (Note 1) 50% of above O
Over 5 items By Arrangement O

Garden Recycling Scheme (Note 4) Sign up to the sevice:
Existing/signup between 16/12/20-16/02/21 50.00 O
Additional bin (maximum 4 per household) 40.00 O
17/02/21 - 05/07/21 60.00 O
06/07/21 onwards 50.00 O

Replacement wheeled bin (note 2) 30.00 O
Roll of 10 replacement black sacks 1.80 O
Reusable Recycing Bags 2.10 O

Notes

1. Resident in receipt of Personal Independence Payments, Universal Credit or equivalent
2. Unless the replacement is for a bin which has been stolen and a Crime Reference Number is provided. 
3. The fee stated is for a 240 litre wheeled bin (or smaller) only.  Larger 660 and 1100 litre bins are replaced
    at cost plus administration
4. A new garden recycling scheme was introduced in February 2018 where a 240-litre wheelie bin is provided
    for green waste. The bins are collected once a fortnight over 40 weeks of the year between February and
    November, the scheme will be run and administered by Urbaser who are the council's waste contractor.



19

SPORTS Concession
£ £ VAT 

BOWLS

Per player per hour Adult 3.70 4.50 S
Bowls and Slip Hire 3.50 S

CRICKET

Privett No 1 Adult 55.00 77.00 S
Weekdays after 6 pm 39.00 60.00 S

Other Sites Adult 44.00 72.00 S
Weekdays after 6 pm 34.00 55.00 S

Synthetic Wicket Adult 34.00 55.00 S
(Gosport Park) Weekdays after 6 pm 28.00 39.00 S

FOOTBALL

Privett Park Enclosure* Gosport Clubs 82.00 132.00 S
Outside Users 120.00 192.00 S
Use of Floodlights 43.00 68.00 S

* To book, please contact Gosport Borough Football Club direct

All Other Sites 39.00 60.00 S
Sites without shower facilities 34.00 50.00 S
Sites without changing facilities 27.00 39.00 S

Training Pitch / Dressing Rooms 23.00 S
Net Pins 0.85 S

9v9 Pitches 21.00 S

MINI SOCCER

Per match 17.50 S
Half day per pitch 38.00 S

RUGBY

Gosport Park Adult 39.00 61.00 S

Dressing Rooms (separate use) 24.00 S
Refreshment Rooms (separate use) 13.00 S

Notes

1. The above hire charges include use of dressing rooms where these are available
2. Double Banked football hire will be 150% of the normal hire charge
3. VAT exemption for Seasonal Hires complying with Customs & Excise conditions
4. Concessionary rates apply for the disabled, over 60's and under 18's
5. Charges for tournaments to be by negotiation with the Head of Streetscene Services



20

STOKES BAY MOBILE HOME PARK
£ VAT 

All Homes - weekly rent (exclusive of rates and water charges) - 48 weeks - E
Statutory increase will be applied

WILDGROUNDS NATURE RESERVE
£ VAT 

PERMIT ACCESS

Day Ticket Adult 2.00 S
Concessions (Disabled, Over 60's & under 18's) 1.50 S

Monthly Permit * Adult 5.00 S
Concessions (Disabled, Over 60's & under 18's) 3.50 S

* 150 permits per month March to October
  300 permits per month July to August

School Parties Non-Gosport 31.00 E
Gosport No Charge

Guided Walks Adult 3.00 E
as advertised Concessions (Disabled, Over 60's & under 18's) 2.00 E

Family - 2 Adults & up to 3 children 10.00 E

Groups & Organisations 36.00 E
(Groups up to 20 people)

Notes

1. Children under the age of 5 are admitted free.



21

PLANNING PRE-APPLICATIONS
£ VAT 

General Advice

General enquiries and advice on planning procedures Free

Permitted Development Enquiry

All submissions for informal opinion on requirement for planning Householders 21.00 S
permission Others 40.00 S

Pre-Application Submissions - advice on the likelihood of planning permission
being granted prior to the submission of a planning application

Minor residential: 1 - 3 dwellings See also Note 1 135.00 S
4 + dwellings See also Note 1 275.00 S

Major residential: 10 - 49 dwellings See also Note 2 680.00 S
50 - 100 dwellings See also Note 2 1,080.00 S

Minor industrial/commercial: under 1000m2 See also Note 1 110.00 S

Major industrial/commercial: 1000 - 5000m2 See also Note 2 680.00 S
5000 + m2 See also Note 2 1,080.00 S

Others: e.g. Change of use of property or land / Adverts / Telecommunication Masts 135.00 S

Other major / very large scale / mixed proposals: Fee will be hourly rate x no. of hours S
 of officers dealing with the matter

Householder Development (development which relates to the extension, improvement
or alteration of an existing residential dwelling): 51.00

Community uses which are non-profiting Free
Proposals made by Local Councils Free
Works to trees Free

Notes:

1. Where a fee is payable and the proposal affects a Listed Building or its setting or is located within a
Conservation Area an additional charge of £80 will be levied

2. Where a fee is payable and the proposal affects a Listed Building or its setting or is located within a
Conservation Area an additional charge of £200 will be levied

3. Where a consultee charges the Borough Council for advice provided this will be payable by the applicant in
addition to the pre-application fee payable.

4. Proposals for large and/or mixed use development or where no floorspace or dwellings specified, fee will
be calculated by reference to hourly rate x no. of hours of officers dealing with the matter.



22

5. A response on minor and other applications will constitute one written response and/or one meeting (max 2
hrs).  A response on a major application will constitute one written response and/or 3 meetings (6 hrs max in
total).  Any follow up written responses or meetings required based on the same proposal or an amendment
to it will be calculated by reference to the hourly rate x no. of hours of officers dealing with the matter and this
will be payable before the advice is provided. All new submissions will require a new fee.

PLANNING PRE-APPLICATIONS (CONTINUED)

6. Each pre-application request can only relate to one site and only one proposal will be accepted for each
site. If you would like us to give advice on more than one layout or proposal for the same site then a separate
request will need to be made for each scheme along with a further fee for each proposal.

7. There will be no reduction in fee where the application would be exempt from a fee because it had
previously been withdrawn, refused or approved.

8. The fee is payable on submission, before the Council undertakes any work on the proposal or provides any
advice.

9. The choice of who is the appropriate officer to deal with a particular case will be at the discretion of
Gosport Borough Council.

10. Hourly Rate - £60.00

Other Charges

Section 106 - Planning Officer costs in negotiating
agreement

Fee will be calculated with
reference to complexity of
individual agreements and the
time required to deal with the
request at the hourly rate 

SSection 106 - Compliance Checks where
applicants/prospective purchaser seeks confirmation that
the terms of a legal agreement have been complied with

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
Effective from 2nd February 2016. For the schedule of charges please refer to the
Planning homepage

ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR ACT 2003 
£ VAT 

High Hedges Application 670.00 O

POSTAL NAMING AND NUMBERING
£ VAT 

New Development of 1 - 5 plots 205.00 O
New Development/phases of 5-20 plots 205.00  + £10.00 per property O
New Development/phases of 21-100 plots 410.00  + £5.00 per property O
New Development/phases of 100+ plots 975.00  + £5.00 per property O
Naming of new block of flats/building 205.00  + £10.00 per property O
New postal address for an individual property 105.00 O
Change to new addresses due to the development
changing after the schedule has been issued

15.00  per property O
Research archive for address history 105.00 O
Renaming an existing Street 205.00  + £5.00 per property O

http://www.gosport.gov.uk/sections/your-council/council-services/planning-section/planning/


23

Notes

At the discretion of the Building Control Manager, the Council, may not require a charge to be paid for the
renaming/renumbering of roads where there has been a historical problem with existing road
naming/numbering scheme.

BUILDING REGULATIONS APPLICATIONS

Gosport Building Control, operating in partnership with Fareham Building Control under the name 'Building
Control Partnership' have prepared a scheme of charges in accordance with The Building (Local Authority
Charges) Regulations 2010

For full details of charges applicable for the Building Regulations control functions please contact the Building
Control Partnership on 01329 824823.



This page is intentionally left blank



GOSPORT BOROUGH COUNCIL

BOARD: POLICY AND ORGANISATION 

DATE OF MEETING: 29 SEPTEMBER 2020

TITLE: COVID 19  

AUTHOR: HEAD OF FINANCE

STATUS: FOR INFORMATION 

Purpose

To provide the Board with an update of the financial impact to the Council of 
the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Recommendation

That the Board note the report. 

1.0 Background

1.1 Following the outbreak of COVID-19 there has been an impact on the 
Council’s finances through a combination of increased costs, reduction 
in income (mainly fees and charges) and losses of funding from Council 
Tax and Business Rates. 

1.2 The Council has received Covid 19 government grant funding of 
£1.183million towards meeting the cost pressures.  A Sales, Fees and 
Charges Compensation Scheme has been introduced by the 
Government to contribute towards income losses with the first claim due 
to be provided to the Government by the end of September 2020. Details 
of how Central Government intends to support Local Authorities with 
Council Tax and Business Rate losses is due to be announced as part 
of the forthcoming Spending Review.

1.3 A comprehensive reporting process has been introduced by the 
Government to enable Councils’ to report all the financial pressures 
being experienced as a result of Covid 19 and to access Central 
Government support for Local Councils. 

1.4 Because of the uncertain nature of the financial impact of COVID the 
report and appendix consider various scenarios.                     

Agenda Item 9



2

2.0 Report

2.1 The expenditure analysis in appendix A shows a forecast of total gross 
additional costs (including unachievable savings) for the year of 
£1.688m. The main drivers of this cost are: the provision of housing pods 
for rough sleepers, the IT cost of facilitating remote working for Council 
Staff, and the financial support to the operator of Gosport Leisure Centre 
following its temporary closure and re-opening under social distancing 
conditions. The Council has recently been successful in a £200k bid for 
a grant that may in part be able to be used to offset the cost of 
expenditure on Rough Sleepers, the financial impact of this will be 
reflected in subsequent forecasts.

2.2 The income analysis in Appendix A shows a forecast income loss for the 
year of £0.916m. The main drivers for loss of income are loss of Parking 
Income, profit share and management fee from the Leisure Centre 
planning fees, licencing and potential loss of commercial rent income. 

2.3 As mentioned, the government have agreed to partially compensate 
Councils for income losses through a Sales, Fees and Charges 
Compensation Scheme.  In broad terms, the Council must meet the first 
5% of any loss and then 25% of the remaining loss with central 
Government funding the difference.  Income such as that from 
commercial rents is excluded from the scheme and Councils will need to 
meet these losses in full. 

2.4 The grant to support additional expenditure has been received. The 
Sales, fees and charges compensation grant to support income losses 
will be claimed over 3 periods, with the first claim for the period up to and 
including September 2020.   

2.5   In order to better understand the risks and the range of possible financial 
outcomes, a sensitivity analysis has been used with three scenarios:

2.5.1 Scenario 1 (£906k deficit) - This is the Council's central 
forecast for additional costs, income losses and a sum of £515k 
being received under the Government's Sales, Fees and Charges 
compensation scheme. 

      2.5.2 Scenario 2 (£530k deficit) - This is the Council's optimistic 
scenario.  As Scenario 1 above but varied by:

 Reduced financial support required for the Leisure 
Centre

 Housing pods are removed earlier
 Income from car parks and other fees is better than 

expected.

2.5.3 Scenario 3 (£1,431k deficit) - This is the Council's 
pessimistic scenario.  As Scenario 1 above but varied by:



3

 Reduced financial support required for the Leisure 
Centre is worse than predicted

 Housing pods remain with same numbers as present
 70% of all budgeted income is lost.

3.0 Risk Assessment

3.1 There is a risk to future service provision depending on the financial 
impact of COVID and the level of Government support received.   

4.0 Conclusion

4.1 Despite Government financial support there remains a financial cost to 
the Council arising from the impact of Covid 19. The Council's central 
forecast is for an overall financial deficit of 906k. However, given the 
uncertainty associated with some key costs, income losses and the level 
of overall Government funding to be received, the overall forecast deficit 
is reasonable expected to vary between £530k and £1.4m as set out in 
Appendix B. Any overall deficit that arises will be met from existing 
reserves. 

Financial Implications As set out in the report
Legal Implications None

Crime and Disorder N/A

Equality and Diversity N/A

Service Improvement Plan N/A

Corporate Plan: N/A
Risk Assessment: Section 3 of the report
Background papers: N/A
Climate Change No direct impact
Appendix A+B

Lead Officer Gary Morris 



This page is intentionally left blank



FORECAST ADDITIONAL COSTS 2020/21

Cost Area

Rough Sleepers
Rough Sleepers inc UC
Homelessness
Homelessness income UC
Public Health Cleaning
Remote IT working
Corp Overtime
Corp Legal
Cemetery new 
Environment
Leisure Centre
Reopening/enforcement
HRA
Unachievable Savings
Total

FORECAST INCOME LOSS 2020/21

Income Area

Car Parks
Leisure Centre Profit share
Leisure Centre fee
Planning
Land Charges
Cemetery 
Sport 
Allotments 
Market  
Licensing 
Other income 
Huhtamaki rent
Other rent issues
Total

Grand Total Financial Impact 2020/21 (before Govt. Funding)

Less: Total Government Funding (Grant and Compensation Scheme)

Grand Total Financial Impact 2020/21 (after Govt. Funding)



Sensitvity Analysis 

Scenario 1 - Expected Case (as above)
Assumes Sales, Fees & Charges compensation succeeds at current estimate

Summary - Scenario 1
Additional Costs
Income Losses
Unachievable Savings
Government Grant - Emergency Covid-19
Sales, Fees, Charges - Compensation Scheme
Net Financial Impact 2020/21

Scenario 2 - Optimistic Case
Leisure Centre support is lower than forecast
Removal of rough sleeper pods earlier
Car Park income better than expected
Planning income better than expected. 

Summary - Scenario 2
Additional Costs
Income Losses
Unachievable Savings
Government Grant - Emergency Covid-19
Sales, Fees, Charges - Compensation Scheme
Net Financial Impact 2020/21

Scenario 3 - Pessimistic Case
Leisure centre estimate is worsens 
PODS remain as present
70% of all income is lost

Summary - Scenario 3
Additional Costs
Income Losses
Unachievable Savings
Government Grant - Emergency Covid-19
Sales, Fees, Charges - Compensation Scheme
Net Financial Impact 2020/21



APPENDIX A

Forecast Total

£000
645

(129)
246

(204)
98

139
25
38
12
15

706
1
6

90
1,688

Forecast Total

£000
410

33
96    
86
44
18
19
26
25
62
17
54
27

916

2,604

(1,698)

906

FORECAST ADDITIONAL COSTS 2020/21

FORECAST INCOME LOSS 2020/21



APPENDIX B

£000
1,598

916
90

(1,183)
(515)

906

£000
1,216

646
76

(1,183)
(225)

530

£000
1,945
1,276

90
(1,183)

(697)
1,431


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting of the board held on 28/07/2020
	Minutes

	6 ELECTORAL REVIEW BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR ENGLAND
	Appendix 1 - Polling District Forecasting Tool - Borough of Gosport
	Appendix 2 - Electorate and Wards comparisons with neighbours
	Appendix 3 - Council Size Submission Guidance
	05 Appendix 4 - Council Size Submission for Gosport v5

	7 UPDATED WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY
	06 Whistle blowing policy GBC

	8 FEES AND CHARGES
	GBC Fees & Charges 2021 Appendix for Board

	9 COVID UPDATE
	P+O 29 September 2020 APPx A+B


